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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

For the quarterly period ended December 19, 2012

or

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

For the transition period from                                 to                                

Commission File Number:  0-8445

BIGLARI HOLDINGS INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

INDIANA 37-0684070
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or

organization)
(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

17802 IH 10 West, Suite 400
San Antonio, Texas 78257

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(210) 344-3400
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Not Applicable
(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.     Yes x  No ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if
any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T
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(§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required
to submit and post such files).     Yes x     No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer,
or a smaller reporting company.  See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.  (Check one):

Large accelerated filer ¨ Accelerated filer x

Non-accelerated filer ¨ (Do not check if a smaller reporting
company)

Smaller reporting company o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act).     Yes o    No x

As of January 23, 2013 1,433,716 shares of the registrant’s Common Stock, $.50 stated value, were outstanding.
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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BIGLARI HOLDINGS INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
December
19, 2012

September
26, 2012

(Unaudited)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash
equivalents                                                                                                             $32,130 $60,359
Investments                                                                                                             305,634 269,858
Receivables, net of allowance of $740 and $744, respectively 6,269 7,001
Inventories                                                                                                             6,676 6,624
Assets held for sale                                                                                                             1,067 2,357
Other current assets                                                                                                             2,996 2,798
Total current assets 354,772 348,997
Property and equipment, net 352,588 356,638
Goodwill 27,529 27,529
Other intangible assets, net 6,079 6,248
Other assets 8,859 9,109
Investments held by consolidated affiliated partnerships 23,730 25,266
Total assets $773,557 $773,787
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable                                                                                                             $40,005 $33,210
Accrued expenses                                                                                                             42,352 53,866
Revolving credit                                                                                                             15,000 —
Deferred income
taxes                                                                                                             15,546 19,367
Current portion of obligations under
leases                                                                                                             5,743 5,713
Current portion of long-term
debt                                                                                                             9,802 12,138
Total current liabilities 128,448 124,294
Deferred income taxes 8,442 8,675
Obligations under leases 108,921 110,353
Long-term debt 120,250 120,250
Other long-term liabilities 9,069 9,002
Total liabilities 375,130 372,574
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
Redeemable noncontrolling interests of consolidated affiliated partnerships 53,274 52,088
Shareholders’ equity
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Common stock – $0.50 stated value, 2,500,000 shares authorized – 1,511,174 shares issued
at December 19, 2012 and September 26, 2012, 1,227,973 and 1,227,928 shares
outstanding (net of treasury stock), respectively 756 756
Additional paid-in capital 140,390 143,035
Retained earnings 256,545 251,983
Accumulated other comprehensive income 38,007 43,897
Treasury stock – at cost: 283,201 and 283,246 shares (includes 205,743 shares held by
consolidated affiliated partnerships) at December 19, 2012 and September 26, 2012,
respectively (90,545 ) (90,546 )
Biglari Holdings Inc. shareholders’ equity 345,153 349,125
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $773,557 $773,787

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

1
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BIGLARI HOLDINGS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
 (Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share and per share data) Twelve Weeks Ended

December
19, 2012

December
21, 2011

Net revenues
Restaurant Operations:
Net sales $163,739 $161,516
Franchise royalties and fees 2,474 2,144
Other revenue 525 530
Total $166,738 164,190
Investment Management Operations:
  Consolidated Affiliated Partnerships:
Investment gains/losses (348 ) 2,124
Other income 121 76
Total (227 ) 2,200
Total net revenues 166,511 166,390

Costs and expenses
Cost of sales 47,954 45,424
Restaurant operating costs 77,360 73,963
General and administrative 13,577 13,258
Depreciation and amortization 5,943 6,301
Marketing 10,233 8,887
Rent 4,012 4,047
Pre-opening costs — 101
Loss on disposal of assets 207 216
Other operating (income) expense (105 ) (519 )
Total costs and expenses, net 159,181 151,678

Other income (expenses)
Interest, dividend and other investment income 2,544 626
Interest on obligations under leases (2,208 ) (2,325 )
Interest expense (1,737 ) (1,855 )
Realized investment gains/losses 1 3,595
Total other income (expenses) (1,400 ) 41

Earnings before income taxes 5,930 14,753

Income taxes 1,543 4,760

Net earnings 4,387 9,993
Earnings attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest:
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Income allocation 154 (1,234 )
Incentive fee 21 36
Total earnings/loss attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests 175 (1,198 )
Net earnings attributable to Biglari Holdings Inc. $4,562 $8,795

Earnings per share attributable to Biglari Holdings Inc.
Basic earnings per common share $3.42 $6.60
Diluted earnings per common share $3.42 $6.58

Weighted average shares and equivalents
Basic 1,333,309 1,333,467
Diluted 1,335,729 1,335,926

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2
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BIGLARI HOLDINGS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
 (Unaudited)

(In thousands) Twelve Weeks Ended

December
19, 2012

December
21, 2011

Net earnings attributable to Biglari Holdings Inc. $4,562 $8,795
Other comprehensive income:
Reclassification of investment appreciation in net earnings (1 ) (1,453 )
Applicable income taxes — 552
Net change in unrealized gains and losses on investments (9,499 ) 20,416
Applicable income taxes 3,610 (7,758 )
Other comprehensive income, net (5,890 ) 11,757
Total comprehensive income (loss) $(1,328 ) $20,552

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

3
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BIGLARI HOLDINGS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 (Unaudited)

(In thousands) Twelve Weeks Ended

December 19, 2012

December
21,
2011

Operating activities
Net earnings                                                                                                                $ 4,387 $9,993
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to operating cash flows (excluding investment
operations of consolidated affiliated
partnerships):                                                                                                                
Depreciation and
amortization                                                                                                             5,943 6,301
Provision for deferred income
taxes                                                                                                             (443 ) 698
Stock-based compensation and other non-cash expenses 106 157
Loss on disposal of
assets                                                                                                             207 216
Realized investment
gains/losses                                                                                                             (1 ) (3,595)
Changes in receivables and
inventories                                                                                                             690 (2,082)
Changes in other
assets                                                                                                             (120 ) (1,554)
Changes in accounts payable and accrued
expenses                                                                                                             

29
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The Audit Committee meets at least four times a year to review with management
and the independent auditors the Corporation’s interim and year-end financial
condition and results of operations. Its review includes an assessment of the
adequacy of the internal accounting, bookkeeping and control procedures of the
Corporation. The Audit Committee also has the responsibility for reviewing on an
ongoing basis all material transactions between Nymox and its affiliates and other
related parties such as officers, directors, other key management personnel, major
shareholders and their close family members, affiliated companies or associated
enterprises.

The Audit Committee has the power to conduct or authorize investigations into any
matters within the Committee’s scope of responsibilities, including the power and
authority to retain and determine funding for independent counsel, accountants, or
other advisors as it determines necessary to carry out its duties.

The Human Resources and Compensation Committee consists of the independent
directors of the Board. The Chairman of the Committee is James G. Robinson; the
other members are Richard Cutler, Esq., and Dr. David Morse. The Committee
establishes and reviews overall policy and structure with respect to compensation
and employment matters, including the determination of compensation
arrangements for directors, executive officers and key employees of the
Corporation. The Committee is also responsible for the administration and award
of options to purchase shares pursuant to our share option plan.

The Corporate Governance Committee consists of the independent directors of the
Board. The Chairman of the Committee is Randall Lanham, Esq.; the other
members are Richard Cutler, Esq. and Dr. Paul Averback. This Committee has the
general mandate of providing an independent and regular review of the
management, business and affairs of Nymox, including our corporate governance.
This Committee also reviews and approves director nominations to ensure each
nominee meets the requisite requirements under applicable corporate and securities
laws, rules and regulations and otherwise possesses the skills, judgment and
independence appropriate for a director of a public corporation.

Employees
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In addition to the employees in its St. Laurent, Hasbrouck Heights and Orange
Country offices, Nymox carries out its work with the assistance of an extensive
group of research collaborators, out-sourced manufacturing teams, research
suppliers, research institutions, service providers and research consultants. To help
carrying out its marketing, Nymox has independent medical representatives
detailing its products.

In its St. Laurent, Hasbrouck Heights and Orange Country offices, as at December
31, 2018, the Corporation employed five persons in research and development, and
one of them also responsible for administration. For the year 2017, the Corporation
employed two persons in research and development and one of them is also
responsible for administration. For the year 2016, the Corporation employed two
persons.

ITEM 7 .  MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS  AND  RELATED PARTY
INFORMATION

Major Shareholders

The following table sets out as of March 27, 2019, the number of common shares
owned and controlled by Dr. Paul Averback, the President and CEO of Nymox and
a member of the Nymox board of directors, and by all directors and officers as a
group.

Name of Shareholder

Number of

Common
Shares

owned by
Shareholder

Percent of

Class of

Common

Shares
Dr. Paul Averback 24,831,448 36.7%
All directors and officers as a group 31,160,608 46.3%

The above shareholders have the same voting rights as all other shareholders. The
percent of class of common shares held by Dr. Paul Averback is 36.5% as of
March 27, 2019.
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All shareholders of Nymox stock have the same voting rights. Other than Dr. Paul
Averback and the individuals above, Nymox does not know of any other
shareholders that beneficially own or hold dispositive power over more than 5% of
its shares.

Related Party Transactions

The Corporation’s related party transactions include salaries, benefits and
stock-based compensation disclosed above for the years ended December 31, 2018.
2017 and 2016. The Corporation also entered into a long-term employment
agreement with its President and Chief Executive Officer. Since 2015, the
Corporation also has made payment in the form of contract for service rendered to
two individual corporations controlled by two Executive officers respectively.
(Note 21)

Dividends

The Corporation has not issued dividends since inception.

Cease Trade Orders, or Bankruptcies

To the knowledge of the Corporation, no director or officer of the Corporation or
shareholder of the Corporation holding a sufficient number of securities of the
Corporation to affect materially the control of the Corporation is, or has been
within the past 10 years, a director or officer of any other Corporation that, while
such person was acting in that capacity, was the subject of a cease trade or similar
order or an order that denied such Corporation access to any exemptions under
Canadian securities legislation for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, or
was declared bankrupt or made a voluntary assignment in bankruptcy, made a
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject
to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had
a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets.
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Penalties or Sanctions

To the knowledge of the Corporation, no director, officer or control person of the
Corporation has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court
relating to U.S. or Canadian securities legislation or by a U.S. or Canadian
securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a
U.S. or Canadian securities authority, nor has any director, officer or control
person of the Corporation been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a
court or regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable
investor in making an investment decision.

Personal Bankruptcies

To the knowledge of the Corporation, no director, officer or control person of the
Corporation, nor any personal holding Corporation of any such person, has within
the past 10 years, been declared bankrupt or made a voluntary assignment in
bankruptcy, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or
insolvency or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or
compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee
appointed to hold the assets of that individual.

Conflicts of Interest

To the knowledge of the Corporation, there are no existing or potential material
conflicts of interest between the Corporation, or subsidiary of the Corporation, and
any director, officer or control person of the Corporation.

Legal Proceedings

Dismissal of Lawsuit. On November 24, 2014, Roy Sapir, a shareholder of the
Corporation, filed a proposed class action suit in the United States District Court,
District of New Jersey, against the Corporation and the President and the CEO of
the Corporation. On February 10, 2016, the Court dismissed the lawsuit. No
provision has been recognized in our financial statements for this legal proceeding.
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Legal proceedings were filed before the Superior Court of the District of Montreal
bearing Court file number 500-17-093342-163 on or about April 1, 2016 by the
Commission des Normes du Travail against Nymox Pharmaceutical Corporation as
a result of a collective dismissal of the Company’s former employees. The value of
the claim amounts to $147,164.38 (plus interest). The proceedings have been
suspended in order to allow time for the parties to begin settlement discussions.
Chances of success on the merits cannot be presently assessed given the
preliminary stages of the file (examinations on discovery to be scheduled should
the suspension be lifted).

31
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING
FIRM

To the Board of Directors and

Stockholders of Nymox Pharmaceutical Corporation

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial
Reporting

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Nymox Pharmaceutical
Corporation (the Company) as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, and the
related statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2018,
and the related notes (collectively referred to as the financial statements). We also
have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
years in the theee-year period ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board. Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by COSO.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included
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in the accompanying Form 20-F. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the financial statements included performing procedures to assess the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. Our audit of
internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could
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have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may
not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Emphasis of Matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated
financial statements which indicates that the failure of U.S. phase 3 studies of NX –
1207 materially affects Nymox Pharmaceutical Corporation’s current ability to fund
its operations, meet its cash flow requirements, realize its assets and discharge its
obligations. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1 in the
consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of the material uncertainty
that casts substantial doubt about Nymox Pharmaceutical Corporation’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

/S/ Thayer O’Neal Company, LLC

Thayer O’Neal Company, LLC

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2015.

Houston, Texas

March 27, 2019
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NYMOX PHARMACEUTICAL CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

(In Thousands of US dollars Other Than per Share Amounts and Thousands of
Shares)

Notes 2018 2017 2016
Revenues
Sales of goods 20 $ 299 $ 224 $ 284
Licensing revenue - - -
Total revenue 299 224 284

Operating Expenses
Research and development 22 6,677 7,874 6,798
General and administrative 4,125 5,428 6,175
Marketing - 8 7
Cost of goods sold 138 149 173
Total operating expenses 10,940 13,459 13,153

Loss from operations (10,641) (13,235) (12,869)
Other expense
Interest income 65 10 4
Finance costs 18 (18) (204) (244)
Loss before income taxes (10,594) (13,429) (13,110)
Income tax provision (recovery) 15 - - -
Net loss $ (10,594) $ (13,429) $ (13,110)
Basic and diluted loss per share 16 $ (0.18) $ (0.26) $ (0.28)
Weighted average number of
common shares outstanding 16 60,466 52,648 46,155

The accompanying notes are on integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.

35
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NYMOX PHARMACEUTICAL CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

For the Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

(In Thousands of US Dollars and Thousands of Shares)

Notes 2018 2017 2016
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,946 $ 851 $ 2,018
Accounts receivable 2 79 6
Other receivables 12 8 3
Inventory 41 15 3
Security deposit 23 7 7
Prepaid expenses and other
current assets 2 1 1
Total current assets 8,026 961 2,038
Property and equipment 6 33 1 2
Other assets 17 17 17
Total assets $ 8,076 $ 979 $ 2,057

L I A B I L I T I E S  A N D
EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accoun t s  p a y a b l e  a n d
accrued liabilities 8 $ 1,074 $ 2,230 1,368
Convertible notes 9 - - 931
Total liabilities 1,074 2,230 2,299
Equity
Share capital – unlimited
authorized shares at no par
value. 64,676, 56,378 and
49,115 shares outstanding at
December 31, 2018, 2017
and 2016, respectively 11,13 126,684 108,196 92,125
Share capital subscription
receivable 11 (868) (718) -
Additional paid-in capital 12-14 36,299 35,790 38,724
Accumulated deficit (155,113) (144,519) (131,091)
Total Stockholders’ equity
(deficit) 7,002 (1,251) (241)
Bus iness  ac t iv i t i es  and
future operations
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C o m m i t m e n t s  a n d
contingencies 10
Subsequent events 29
T o t a l  l i a b i l i t i e s  a n d
stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ 8,076 $ 979 2,057

The accompanying notes are on integral part of these consolidated financial
statements

36
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NYMOX PHARMACEUTICAL CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow

For the Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

(In Thousands of US Dollars)

C A S H  F L OW S  F R OM
OPERATIGN ACTIVITIES Notes 2018 2017 2016
Net loss $ (10,594) $ (13,429) $ (13,110)
Adjustments to reconcile net
l o s s  t o  n e t  c a s h  u s e d  i n
operating activities
Depreciation 4 3 1 3
Stock based compensation 13 3,814 6,297 9,074
Issued stock for commission
and option expense 101 - -
Accretion expense and interest
settled by share issuances - 152 116
Changes in operating assets and
liabilities:
Accounts receivable and other
receivables 73 (77) (2)
Research tax credit receivable 15 - - 271
Security deposit (16) - (7)
Prepaid expense (1) - -
Inventory (25) (13) 35
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities (1,156) 863 (883)
Net  cash used in operat ing
activities (7,801) (6,206) (4,502)
C A S H  F L OW S  F R OM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Pu r cha s e  o f  p r ope r t y  and
equipment (36) - (2)
Net cash flows used in investing
activities (36) (2)
C A S H  F L OW S  F R OM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from the issuance of
share capital 11 14,932 5,039 6,147
N e t  c a s h  p r o v i d e d  f r om
financing activities 14,932 5,039 6,147

7,095 (1,167) 1,643
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Net (decrease) increase in cash
and cash equivalents
C A S H  A N D  C A S H
EQUIVALENTS
Beginning of year 851 2,018 374
End of year $ 7,946 $ 851 $ 2,018
S U P P L E M E N T A L
DISCLOSURE
Income taxes paid 15 $ - $ - $ -
Interest paid $ - $ - $ -
NON-CASH INVESTING
AND FINANCING
ACTIVITIESACTIVITIES
Shares and warrants issued on
connection with convertible
notes $ - $ 1,171 $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements
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NYMOX PHARMACEUTICAL CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

For the Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

(In Thousands of US Dollars and Shares)

Note
Common
Shares AmountSubscriptions

Additional

Paid-In

Capital

Accumulated

Deficit Total
December 31,
2015 42,988 $ 84,954 $ - $ 30,674 $ (117,981) $ (2,353)
S h a r e
issuance 2,727 6,147 - - - 6,147
S h a r e
compensation 13 3,400 1,024 8,050 - 9,074
Net loss - - - - (13,110) (13,110)
December 31,
2016 49,115 92,125 - 38,724 (131,091) (241)
S h a r e
issuance 1,423 5,757 (718) - - 5,039
W a r r a n t
exerc ise  for
shares 549 88 - (88) -
S h a r e
issuance for
conversion of
d e b t  a n d
a c c r u e d
interest 9 2,031 1,083 - - - 1,083
S h a r e
compensation
a n d  o p t i o n
expense

12,
13 3,260 9,143 - (2,846) - 6,297

Net loss - - - - (13,429) (13,429)
December 31,
2017 56,378 $ 108,196 $ (718) $ 35,790 $ (144,519) $ (1,251)
S h a r e s
issuance for
c a s h  a n d
subscriptions 5,188 15,082 (150) - - 14,932

13 10 32 - - - 32
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Stock-based
commission
Stock-based
compensation 13 3,100 3,374 - 509 - 3,883
Net loss - - - - (10,594) (10,594)
B a l a n c e ,
December 31,
2018 64,676 $ 126,684 $ (868) $ 36,299 $ (155,113) $ 7,002

The accompanying notes are on integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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 NYMOX PHARMACEUTICAL CORPORATION

Notes to the Financial Statements

December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 1 – BUSINESS ACTIVITIES AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Nymox Pharmaceutical Corporation is a company which re-domiciled from
Canada to the Commonwealth of The Bahamas in 2015 and is incorporated under
the International Business Companies Act of the Commonwealth of The Bahamas.
Nymox Pharmaceutical Corporation including its subsidiaries, Nymox
Corporation, a Delaware Corporation, and Serex Inc. of New Jersey (together
referred to as the “Corporation”), is a biopharmaceutical corporation, which
specializes in the research and development of products for the aging population.
The head office of the Corporation is located at Bay & Deveaux Sts., 2nd Floor,
Nassau, The Bahamas. The Corporation currently markets NicAlertTM and
TobacAlertTM, tests that use urine or saliva to detect use of tobacco products. Since
1989, the Corporation’s activities and resources have been primarily focused on
developing certain pharmaceutical technologies. Since 2002, the Corporation has
been developing its novel proprietary drug candidate, NX-1207, for the treatment
of benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) and, since 2012, for the treatment of
low-grade localized prostate cancer. The Corporation also has an extensive patent
portfolio covering its marketed products, its investigational drug as well as other
therapeutic and diagnostic indications.

Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and its
interpretations as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Audit
Committee of the Corporation’s Board of Directors on March 26, 2019.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern and
on the historical cost basis.
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Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars,
which is the Corporation and its subsidiaries’ functional currency.

Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies and
assumption and estimation uncertainties that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements is noted below:

Judgments in applying accounting policies

The use of the going concern basis (Note 1)

Licensing revenues and deferred revenue

Revenue recognition is subject to critical judgments, particularly in collaboration
agreements that include multiple deliverables, as judgment is required in allocating
revenue to each component, including upfront payments, milestone payments, sale
of goods, royalties and license fees. Management also uses judgment in estimating
the service period over which revenue is recognized for upfront payments received
(note 9).

Contingent liability

Assessing the recognition of contingent liabilities requires judgment in evaluating
whether it is probable that economic benefits will be required to settle matters
subject to litigation (note 12).

Convertible notes
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The model used to measure the fair value of the liability component comprises
estimation uncertainty for the interest rate applicable to a similar liability that does
not have an equity conversion option (note 8).

Stock options and warrants

There is estimation uncertainty with respect to selecting inputs to the Binomial
pricing model used to determine the fair value of the stock options and warrants
(Note 12).

Other areas of judgment and uncertainty relate to the recoverability of research tax
credits and deferred tax assets. Reported amounts and note disclosure reflect the
overall economic conditions that are most likely to occur and anticipated measures
management intends to take. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The above estimates and assumptions are reviewed regularly. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are
revised and in any future periods affected.
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NOTE 2 – GOING CONCERN CONSIDERATIONS

The Corporation is subject to a number of risks, including the successful
development and marketing of its technologies the ability to raise financing to
pursue the development of its operations. The Corporation depends on private
placements and other types of financing as well as collaboration agreements, to
fund its operations, achieve its business plan and the realization of its assets and
liabilities in the normal course of operations.

The failure of the two Phase 3 studies of NX-1207 for BPH materially affects the
Corporation’s current ability to fund its operations, meet its cash flow requirements,
realize its assets and discharge its obligations.

Management believes that current cash balances as at December 31, 2018 and
anticipated to be received from the April 2018 financing will be sufficient to
finance all of its planned business operations and research and development
programs over the next year. However, the Corporation’s primary sources of
financing since 2003 has been the Common Stock Private Purchase Agreement,
which expired in November 2015 and was not renewed. If necessary, the
Corporation intends to seek additional equity or finance through the existing
private placements and/or other sources of capital in order to fund these operations
and activities over the next year.

Considering recent developments and the need for additional financing, there exists
a material uncertainty that casts substantial doubt about the Corporation’s ability to
continue as a going concern. These financial statements do not reflect adjustments
that would be necessary if the going concern assumption was not appropriate. If the
going concern assumption is not appropriate, then adjustments may be necessary to
the carrying value and classification of assets and liabilities and reported results of
operations and such adjustments could be material.

NOTE 3 – SIGNIFICANT ESTIMATES

Significant estimates applied in the preparation of these financial statements
include the estimated useful lives of property and equipment, share volatility and
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estimated life of options and warrants in determining their fair value as well as the
expected potential for the realization of deferred tax assets in determining the
amount of the valuation allowance thereto.

NOTE 4 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods
presented in these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation include the accounts of its
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Corporation. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.

Financial instruments

The Corporation has classified its cash, trade accounts receivable and other
receivables as “loans and receivables”, and its trade accounts payable, accrued
liabilities, convertible notes (excluding the conversion option) as “other financial
liabilities”.

The Corporation must classify the fair value measurements of financial instruments
according to a three-level hierarchy, based on the type of inputs used in making
these measurements. These tiers include: Level 1, defined as observable inputs
such as quoted prices in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than
quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable; and
Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists,
therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions.

Financial assets

The Corporation initially recognizes loans and receivables on the date that they are
originated. Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are recognized
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initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

The Corporation derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the
cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual
cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Financial assets and
liabilities are offset, and the net amount presented in the consolidated statements of
financial position when, and only when, the Corporation has a legal right to offset
the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.
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Financial liabilities

The Corporation initially recognizes other financial liabilities on the trade date at
which the Corporation becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Other financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these
financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method.

The Corporation derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations
are discharged, cancelled or expired. Interest, losses and gains relating to a
financial liability are recognized in the statement of operations and comprehensive
loss.

Compound financial instruments

Compound financial instruments issued by the Corporation comprise convertible
notes that can be converted to share capital at the option of the holder, and the
number of shares to be issued does not vary with changes in their fair value.

The liability component of a compound financial instrument is recognized initially
at the fair value of a similar liability that does not have an equity conversion
option. The equity component is recognized initially at the difference between the
fair value of the compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of the
liability component. Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the
liability and equity components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial
instrument is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The
equity component of compound financial instrument is not re-measured subsequent
to initial recognition.

Share capital

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs attributable to the
issuance of common shares are recognized as an increase to deficit.
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Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of finished goods held for sales and materials and are
carried at the lower of first-in, first-out cost and net realizable value. Net realizable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less selling
expenses.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to the
functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of that equipment.
When parts of an item of property and equipment have significantly different
useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of
property and equipment. Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property and
equipment are recognized as the difference in the proceeds from disposal and the
carrying amount of property and equipment.

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property and equipment is recognized in
the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits
embodied within the part will flow to the Corporation, and its cost can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the
day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognized in the statement of
operations and comprehensive loss.

Depreciation is calculated on the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset
less its residual value. Depreciation is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of each component of an item of property and equipment,
since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future
economic benefits embodied in the asset.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are represented
by the following estimated useful lives:

Asset Classification Useful life

Laboratory equipment 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years
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Office equipment and
fixtures 5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed on an ongoing
basis and adjusted if appropriate.
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Intangible assets and intellectual property rights

Intangible assets include patents and acquired intellectual property rights. These
intangible assets are subject to amortization over their estimated useful life and are
presented in the statement of financial condition at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

Research and development expenditures

Expenditures on research activities, net of research tax credits, undertaken with the
prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding, as
well as demonstrating product efficacy and regulatory compliance prior to launch,
are expensed in the statement of comprehensive earnings (loss) as incurred.
Development activities, net of research tax credits, involve a plan or design to
produce new or substantially improved products and processes. Development
expenditures are capitalized only if development costs can be measured reliably,
the product or process is technically, and commercially feasible, future economic
benefits are probable, and the Corporation intends to and has sufficient resources to
complete development and to use or sell the asset. Other development expenditures
are recognized in research and development expenses as incurred.

Amortization

Amortization is calculated on the cost of the asset, less its residual value.
Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed on an ongoing
basis and adjusted if appropriate.

Impairment

Indefinite lived intangibles are subject an assessment for impairment on at least an
annual basis.

Financial assets

Financial assets are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is
objective evidence that they are impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective
evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash
flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. Objective evidence that financial
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assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of
an amount due to the Corporation on terms that the Corporation would not consider
otherwise, and indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy. In
assessing impairment, the Corporation uses historical trends of the probability of
default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for
management’s judgment as to whether current economic and credit conditions are
such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by
historical trends.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is
calculated and recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses are reflected in an allowance account
against receivables. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment
loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Corporation’s non-financial assets, including property
and equipment, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is
any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its
value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that
cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the
cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit, CGU or
segment”).

The Corporation’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is
an indication that a corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount
is determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset belongs.
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An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognized in respect
of CGUs are allocated to reduce the carrying amounts of the assets in the CGU on
a pro rata basis. Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each
reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment
loss had been recognized.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from product sales is recognized when the product has been delivered and
obligations as defined in the agreement are performed. Collaboration agreements
that include multiple deliverables are considered to be multiple-element
arrangements. Under this type of arrangement, the identification of separate units
of accounting is required and revenue is allocated among the separate units based
on their relative fair values.

Payments received under a collaboration agreement may include upfront payments,
milestone payments, sale of goods, royalties and license fees. Revenue for each
unit of accounting is recorded as described below:

Upfront payments

Upfront payments are deferred and recognized as revenue on a systematic basis
over the estimated service period. Changes in estimates are recognized
prospectively when changes to the expected term are determined.

Milestone payments

Revenue subject to the achievement of milestones is recognized only when the
specified events have occurred, and collectability is reasonably assured.

Specifically, the criteria for recognizing milestone payments are that (i) the
milestone is substantive in nature, (ii) the achievement was not reasonably assured
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at the inception of the agreement, and (iii) the Corporation has no further
involvement or obligation to perform associated with the achievement of the
milestone, as defined in the related collaboration arrangement.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the Corporation has transferred
to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods, there is no
continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue
can be measured reliably.

Royalties and license fees

Royalties and license fees are recognized when conditions and events under the
license agreement have occurred and collectability is reasonably assured.

Foreign currency

Monetary assets and liabilities of the Corporation’s Canadian and US subsidiaries
denominated in currencies other than the US dollar are translated at the rates of
exchange at the reporting date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction. Income and expenses denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the average rate prevailing during the year.

Foreign exchange loss and gain are reported on a net basis, within finance costs or
finance income.

Research tax credits

Until the company re-domiciled from Canada to the commonwealth of Bahamas in
2015, it is entitled to scientific research and experimental development tax credits
(“research tax credits”) granted by the Canadian federal government and the
government of the province of Québec. Federal research tax credits, which are
non-refundable, are earned on qualified research and development expenditures
and can only be used to offset federal income taxes otherwise payable. Provincial
research tax credits, which are refundable, are earned on qualified research and
development expenditures incurred in the province of Québec.
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These research tax credits are recognized as a reduction of research and
development expenditures in the period in which they become receivable, provided
that there is reasonable assurance that they will be received.

Stock-based compensation

The grant date fair value of stock-based compensation awards granted to
employees, consultants and directors is recognized as an expense, with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees, consultants or
directors unconditionally become entitled to the awards. The amount recognized as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service
vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately
recognized as an expense is based on the number of awards that do meet the related
service at the vesting date.

The fair value of the stock options is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing
model. Measurement inputs include share price on measurement date, exercise
price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted average historic
volatility), weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on historical
experience and general option holder behavior), expected dividends, and the
risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). Service conditions attached to
the transactions are not taken into account in determining fair value.

Share based payment arrangements in which the Corporation receives goods or
services as consideration for its own equity instruments are accounted for as
equity-settled share-based payment transactions.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis
and are expensed as the related service is provided.

In addition to their salaries, employees of the Corporation are covered by a benefit
package which includes a health plan, dental plan, disability insurance, life
insurance and worker compensation insurance coverage. Participation in this plan
is paid by the Corporation in full. Any employee that elects to extend the coverage
to members of their family must pay the additional premium.
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Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognized on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part
of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

Income taxes

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes. Current tax and deferred
tax are recognized in the statement of operations and comprehensive loss except to
the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in
equity or in other comprehensive loss.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss
of the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Deferred tax is
recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary
differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate
to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on
different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses and deductible temporary
differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at
each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
the related tax benefit will be realized.
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Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are determined using the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share are
computed in a manner consistent with basic earnings per share, except that the
weighted average shares outstanding are increased to include additional shares
from the assumed exercise of options and warrants, if dilutive. The number of
additional shares is calculated by assuming that outstanding options were
exercised, and that the proceeds from such exercises as well as the assumed
proceeds from future services were used to acquire shares of common stock at the
average market price during the reporting period.

Provisions

A provision is recognized if, because of a past event, the Corporation has a present
legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognized
as finance cost.

Onerous contracts

A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be
derived by the Corporation from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of
meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the present
value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected
net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the
Corporation recognizes any impairment loss on the assets associated with that
contract.

Contingent liability

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and of
which the existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of
one or more uncertain future events not within the control of the Corporation; or a
present obligation that arises from past events (and therefore exists), but is not
recognized because it is not probable that a transfer or use of assets, provision of
services or any other transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, or the amount of the obligation cannot be estimated reliably.
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NOTE 5 – NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

Issued and Adopted in Current Year Financial Statements

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) ultimately replaces IAS 39 – Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”), with the objective of
improving and simplifying the reporting for financial instruments.

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, Financial Instruments
(IFRS 9). IFRS 9 supersedes IAS 39, IFRIC 9 and earlier versions of IFRS 9. This
standard provides guidance on the classification and measurement of financial
liabilities and the presentation of gains and losses on financial liabilities designated
at fair value through profit and loss. When an entity elects to measure a financial
liability at fair value, gains or losses due to changes in the credit risk of the
instrument must be recognized in other comprehensive income.

This standard was effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2018 with earlier adoption permitted. The Corporation has implemented this
standard yet there is no impact of the adoption of this standard on its consolidated
financial statements.

IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
which establishes principles for reporting the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with
customers. It provides a single model in order to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers.

IFRS 15 supersedes the following standards: IAS 11, Construction Contracts, IAS
18, Revenue, IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programs, IFRIC 15, Agreements for
the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers,
and SIC-31, Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Service.
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The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognizes revenue to depict the
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
and services.

IFRS 15 also includes a cohesive set of disclosure requirements that would result
in an entity providing comprehensive information about the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the entity’s contracts with
customers.

This standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018,
with earlier adoption permitted. The Corporation has adopted this standard in these
financial statements yet determined that there is no impact on reported results of
operations from its implementation.

Issued but Not Yet Adopted

Several new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards were
issued by the IASB or International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations
Committee (“IFRS IC”). They are mandatory but not yet effective for the period
ended December 31, 2018 and have not been applied in preparing these
consolidated financial statements. Many of these are not applicable or are
inconsequential to the Corporation and have been excluded from the discussion
below.

The following standards and interpretations have been issued by the IASB and the
IFRS IC and the Corporation is currently assessing their impact on the financial
statements:

IFRS 16, Leases

This standard introduces a new approach to lessee accounting that requires a lessee
to recognize assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by leases.
IFRS 16 requires a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with a
term of more than 12 months and for which the underlying asset is not of low
value. The IASB concluded that such an approach will result in a more faithful
representation of a lessee’s assets and liabilities and, together with enhanced
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disclosures, greater transparency of a lessee’s financial leverage and capital
employed. IFRS 16 requires enhanced disclosure by lessors of information about
their risk exposure.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Early
application is permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers, at or before the date of initial application of IFRS 16.

A lessee should apply IFRS 16 to its leases either: (a) retrospectively to each prior
reporting period presented applying IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors; or (b) retrospectively with the cumulative effect
of initially applying IFRS 16 recognized at the date of initial application. A lessor
is not required to make any adjustments on transition for leases in which it is a
lessor and should account for those leases applying IFRS 16 from the date of initial
application.

Nymox will adopt IFRS 16 on January 1, 2019 with an immaterial cumulative
adjustment to accumulated deficit rather than retrospectively adjusting prior
periods. This adoption approach will result in a balance sheet presentation that will
not be comparable to the prior period in the first year of adoption. The adoption of
IFRS16 will result in the recognition of operating lease assets and liabilities of
approximately $344,000.
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NOTE 6 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The carrying value of property and equipment included the following changes for
the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016:

In Thousands of US Dollars
Laboratory

Equipment
Computer
Equipment

Office
Equipment Total

Cost
Balance at  December 31,
2015 $ 418 $ 30 $ 89 $ 537
Additions - 1 - 1
Disposals - - – -
Balance at  December 31,
2016 418 31 89 538
Additions – – – –
Disposals – – – –
Balance at  December 31,
2017 418 31 89 538
Additions – 12 24 36
Disposals – – – –
Balance at  December 31,
2018 $ 418 $ 43 $ 113 $ 574

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at  December 31,
2015 418 27 87 532
Depreciation for the year – 3 1 4
Disposals – – – –
Balance at  December 31,
2016 $ 418 $ 30 $ 88 $ 536
Depreciation for the year – 1 1 2
Disposals – – – –
Balance at  December 31,
2017 418 31 89 $ 538
Depreciation for the year – 2 1 3
Disposals – – – –
Balance at  December 31,
2018 $ 418 $ 33 $ 90 $ 541
Carrying amounts
At December 31, 2016 $ - $ 1 $ 1 $ 2
At December 31, 2017 $ - $ 1 $ - $ 1
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At December 31, 2018 $ - $ 10 $ 23 $ 33

The depreciation expense of property and equipment amounts to $3,041, $1,153
and $3,438 for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively
and is included in research and development in the statements of operations and
comprehensive loss.

NOTE 7 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets include patents and acquired intellectual property rights. Patents
having a capitalized cost of $4,818,243, accumulated amortization of $4,500,511
and accumulated impairment of $317,732 at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016,
are still assets of the Corporation.

The intellectual property rights, having a cost of $2,222,661 and an accumulated
amortization of $2,222,661 at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, are still
property of the Corporation.

NOTE 8 – ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016,
consisted of the following:

In Thousands of US Dollars
Description 2018 2017 2016
Accounts payable $ 808 $ 2,017 $ 1,142
Accrued liabilities:
Payroll related liabilities 216 213 212
Other accrued liabilities 50 - 14
Total accounts payable and accrued
liabilities $ 1,074 $ 2,230 $ 1,368
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NOTE 9 – CONVERTIBLE NOTES

The convertible note payable was entered into on December 16, 2014, bears
interest at 6% and matured on December 1, 2017. Additionally, the Corporation
has agreed to pay an annual administration fee equal to 2% of the face value of the
note.

The convertible note was classified as a liability at its estimated fair value with the
residual allocated to the conversion feature. As a result, the recorded liability for
the convertible note was lower than its face value, the difference being
characterized as a debt discount and amortized as interest expense using the
effective interest method over the term of the note. The value assigned to the
conversion feature has been characterized as equity. The fair value of the debt
component was determined using a discounted cash flow model.

The carrying value of the convertible noted included the following changes for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016:

In Thousands of US Dollars
Description 2018 2017 2016
Balance, beginning of the period $ - $ 931 $ 815
Accretion expense - 139 116
Debt conversion - (1,070) -
Balance, end of the period $ - $ - $ 931

In connection with the issuance of the convertible notes, the Corporation issued
107,000 warrants to the placement agent as part of the placement fee. The warrants
are classified as equity as they meet the criteria for such classification. All warrant
had been exercised by December 31, 2017. See note 14.

Using the effective interest rate method and the 23.57% rate implicit in the
calculation, the difference of $351,169 between the amounts attributed to the debt
component and the face value of the convertible note is being accreted to the fair
value over the term of the note.
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By the year end of December 31, 2017, the debt holder converted full amount of
principle of $1,070,000 and accrued interest of $13,064 to total of 2,030,872
shares.

NOTE 10 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating leases

In August 2018, July 2018, October 2017, the Corporation entered into or renewed
its operating lease agreements for its Canadian, US (California) and US (New
Jersey) premises, which will expire on August 31, 2020, December 31, 2019 and
October 31, 2020, respectively. The Corporation is working on making a final rent
settlement with Bahamas office landlord.

The current leases for the Canadian, US (California) and U.S. (New Jersey)
operations run for 18 months, 12 months and two years respectively, with an
option to renew the leases after these dates. Lease deposits are described below:

In Thousands of US Dollars
Location Current Non-Current
Bahamas $ 7 $ -
California 16
New Jersey - 17
Total $ 23 $ 17

Lease payments are increased with every renewal to reflect market rentals. The
current monthly payments, net of executory costs, for these leases are as follows:
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In Thousands of US Dollars
Location Amount
Quebec $ 5
California 7
New Jersey 10
Total $ 22

During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, we incurred $272,444,
$279,640 and $264,825, respectively in expenses related to these operating leases.

Minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases that were entered
by the Corporation are payable as follows:

In Thousands of US Dollars
Payment Term Amount
Less than one year $ 261
Between one and five years 134
More than five years -
Total $ 395

NOTE 11 – SHARE CAPITAL

Common shares authorized, issued and related contributed capital by controlling
shareholders as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows

In Thousands of US Dollars and shares
Description 2018 2017 2016
Authorized:
A n  u n l im i t e d  n umb e r  o f
common shares, at no par value
Issued, outstanding:
Number of common shares 64,676 56,378 49,116
Dollars $ 126,684 $ 108,196 $ 92,125

The holders of common shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared, which
is at the discretion of the Corporation, and are entitled to one vote per share at the
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annual general meeting of the Corporation. The Corporation has never paid any
dividends.

Common Stock

In February 2016, the Corporation fi led a prospectus supplement and
accompanying prospectus related to the potential issuance and sale of up to
$12,000,000 of our common stock, no par value per share, from time to time
through our sales agent, Chardan Capital Markets, LLC, or Chardan. These sales
have been made under an equity distribution agreement, dated February 5, 2016,
between the Corporation and Chardan, which we refer to as the equity distribution
agreement.

Sales of our common stock under this prospectus supplement and the
accompanying prospectus are made by any method permitted by law deemed to be
an “at-the-market” offering as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, including sales made directly on The NASDAQ Capital Market, on
any other existing trading market for our common. If expressly authorized by us,
Chardan may also sell our common stock in privately negotiated transactions.
Chardan acts as sales agent on a commercially reasonable efforts basis, consistent
with its normal trading and sales practices and applicable state and federal laws,
rules and regulations and the rules of NASDAQ. There is no specific date on which
the offering will end, there are no minimum sale requirements and there are no
arrangements to place any of the proceeds of this offering in an escrow, trust or
similar account.
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During the year end December 31, 2018, the Corporation completed 11 private
placements and raised a total of $14,931,958 in share capital. A total of 5,137,950
shares were issued at an average price of $2.91 per share for the private placement.
The Corporation has sold 50,000 shares to one of its officers at $3.00 per share as
shares subscription receivable by the year end of 2018.

NOTE 12 – STOCK OPTIONS

The Corporation has established a stock option plan (the “Plan”) for its key
employees, officers and directors, and certain consultants. The Plan is administered
by the Board of Directors of the Corporation. The Board may from time to time
designate individuals to whom options to purchase common shares of the
Corporation may be granted, the number of shares to be optioned to each, and the
option price per share. The option price per share cannot involve a discount to the
market price at the time the option is granted. The maximum number of shares
which may be optioned under the stock option plan is 7,500,000. The maximum
number of shares which may be optioned to any one individual is 15% of the total
issued and outstanding common shares. Options under the Plan expire up to ten
years after the grant date and vest either immediately or over periods up to six
years and are equity-settled. As of December 31, 2018, 1,760,000 options could
still be granted by the Corporation.

The following table provides the activity of stock option awards for the years
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 and for options outstanding and
exercisable as of December 31, 2018, the weighted average exercise price, and the
weighted average remaining contractual life.

Options outstanding

Number

Weighted
average

exercise
price

Weighted
average

remaining
contractual

life (in
years)

Outstanding December 31,
2015 6,519,500 4.43 4.28
Expired (859,500) 2.99
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Granted - - -
Cancelled - - -
Outstanding December 31,
2016 5,660,000 1.74 8.37
Granted 50,000 2.93 9.03
Outstanding December 31,
2017 5,710,000 $ 1.75 7.39
Expired - - -
Not vested
Granted 30,000 3.43 3.59
Outstanding December 31,
2018 5,740,000 $ 1.76 6.37
Options exercisable 5,710,000 $ 1.75 6.39

The fair value of the options granted during the years ended December 31, 2018
and 2017, was determined using the Binomial Option pricing model using the
following weighted average assumptions:

Description 2018 2017 2016
Share price $ 2.59~$3.39 $ 2.93 -
Exercise price $ 3.43 $ 2.93 -
Risk-free interest rate 2.74%~2.78% 2.38% -
Expected volatility 149.99%~150.43% 108.14% -
Expected opt ion l i fe  in
years 4Yrs. 10Yrs. -
Expected dividend yield - - -

The weighted average grant-date fair value of options granted during the year
ended December 31, 2018, and 2017 was $ 2.72 per option respectively. Expected
volatility was estimated considering historic average share price volatility.
Expected dividends were determined to be nil, since the Corporation has never had
the ability nor paid any dividends.
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NOTE 13 SHARE BASED COMPENSATION

On July 17, 2015, the Corporation approved the long-term employment agreement
of Dr. Paul Averback as President and Chief Executive Officer. Dr. Averback has
not taken a salary since November of 2014. The employment agreement retains the
services of Dr. Averback for an initial period of seven years. Dr Averback has
agreed to forgo 100% of his salary until the Company receives a significant
increase in its financing to expand its operations and execute its business plans at
which time Dr. Averback will have the option to receive a cash salary or to
continue the equity compensation. Dr. Averback received 3,000,000 restricted
shares in July, 2015 and shall receive 250,000 restricted stock each month for the
duration of the contract, totaling up to 21,000,000 restricted shares, in lieu of cash
salary. The Corporation determined that a grant date for all the restricted shares
occurred on July 17, 2015 and established the fair value of each share at $1.36. The
Corporation is recording the expense on a pro-rata basis and recorded an expense
of $3,499,991 in 2018. The unrecognized compensation cost as at December 31,
2018, which will be recognized on a pro-rata basis over the duration of the
employment contract as services are performed, assuming Dr. Averback continued
to elect equity compensation, is $4,466,352.

The stock and stock option-based compensation expense to the directors and
employees are disaggregated in the statements of operations and comprehensive
loss for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, as follows:

In Thousands of US Dollars
Functional Expense Category 2018 2017 2016
General and administrative expense $ 2,064 $ 3,708 $ 5,002
Research and development expense 1,819 2,589 4,072
Total $ 3,883 $ 6,297 $ 9,074

NOTE 14 - WARRANTS

On December 16, 2014, in connection with the convertible notes private placement
financing referred to in note 9, the Corporation issued 107,000 warrants to the
placement agent as partial consideration for the placement fees. Each warrant
entitled the holder to acquire one common share of the Corporation at an exercise
price of $0.54 prior to December 16, 2017. The debt holder had exercised all
107,000 warrants as of December 31, 2017.
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On January 23, 2015 and on March 12, 2015, the Corporation completed two
$200,000 private placements for a total of $400,000. A total of 883,058 units were
issued at a weighted average price of $0.39 per unit. Each Unit was comprised of
one common share and a warrant to purchase one-half of one common share. A
total of 441,529 warrants were issued. Each Warrant entitled the holder to acquire
one common share of the Corporation at a price per share equal to U.S. $2.00 for a
period 24 month following the subscription date. By the year end of December 31,
2017, the warrant holder has excised all these warrants.
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No warrants are outstanding as of December 31, 2018. A detail of warrant activity
for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

Description Number

Weighted
average

exercise
price

Weighted
average

remaining
contractual

life (in
years)

Outstanding 31-Dec-15 548,529 $ 1.72 1.31
Exercised - - -
Granted - - -
Expired - - -
Cancelled - - -
Outstanding 31-Dec-16 548,529 $ 1.72 1.31
Exercised 548,529 1.72 -
Granted - - -
Expired - - -
Cancelled - - -
Outstanding 31-Dec-17 - $ - -
Exercised - - -
Granted - - -
Expired - - -
Cancelled - - -
Outstanding 31-Dec-18 - $ - -

NOTE 15 - INCOME TAXES

The Corporation was re-domiciled to the Bahamas in 2015. The substantial portion
of our operations are generated out of our executive offices in the Bahamas which
has no corporate income taxes. We do have operations subject to income tax in the
United States of America, primarily the sale of product out of our New Jersey
facilities.

The effect of the re-domiciliation from Canada to the Bahamas will result in the
expiration of several tax attributes relative to our prior operations in Canada
including Canadian research tax credit carryforwards and Canadian loss
carryforwards. Canadian research tax credit carryforwards and Canadian loss
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carryforwards expired upon determination of the re-domiciliation by the Canadian
federal government amount to $1,686,270 and $55,850,632, respectively.

Nymox recognized no provision (recovery) for federal income taxes for the years
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

The following table is a reconciliation of effective tax rate:

In Thousands of US Dollars
Description 2018 2017 2016
Net loss for the year, before
income taxes $ (10,594) $ (13,429) $ (13,110)
Net loss attributable to the
Bahamas (10,416) (13,305) (12,978)
Net loss attributable the
United States (178) (124) (132)
D o m e s t i c  t a x  r a t e
a p p l i c a b l e  t o  t h e
Corporation 21% 35% 35%
Income taxes at domestic
tax statutory rate (62) (43) (46)
C h a n g e  i n  v a l u a t i o n
allowance 62 43 46
Deferred  tax  provis ion
(recovery) $ - $ - $ -

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, deferred tax assets not recognized were as
follows:

In Thousands of US Dollars
Description 2018 2017 2016
Tax loss carry forward $ 1,558 $ 4,179 $ 4,130
Patents capitalized and amortized for
tax purposes 4 10 16
Unrecognized deferred tax assets $ 1,568 $ 4,189 $ 4,146

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect to these items because it is
not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
Corporation can utilize the benefits therefrom. The generation of future taxable
profit is dependent on the successful commercialization of the Corporation’s
products and technologies.
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The amount of net operating loss carryforwards for US Federal income tax
purposes by year of origination and expiration is detailed below:

In Thousands of US Dollars
Year

Originated

Year of

Expiration Amount

Year

Originated

Year of

Expiration Amount
1999 2019 1,078 2009 2029 86
2000 2020 813 2010 2030 541
2001 2021 664 2011 2031 480
2002 2022 522 2012 2032 177
2003 2023 564 2013 2033 121
2004 2024 353 2014 2034 70
2005 2025 264 2015 2035 127
2006 2026 355 2016 2036 147
2007 2027 .373 2017 2037 140
2008 2028 351 2018 2038 194

Total $ 7,420

NOTE 16 - EARNINGS PER SHARE

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:

In Thousands of Shares
Description 2018 2017 2016
Issued common shares at January 1 56,378 49,116 42,988
Effect of shares issued 4,088 3,532 3,167
Weighted average number of common
shares outstanding at December 31 60,466 52,648 46,155

Diluted loss per share was the same amount as basic loss per share, as the effect of
options and warrants would have been anti-dilutive because the Corporation
incurred losses in each of the years presented. All outstanding options could
potentially be dilutive in the future.

NOTE 17 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES
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The Corporation has determined that the carrying value of its short-term financial
assets and liabilities approximates their fair value due to the immediate or
short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The fair values of the
convertible notes, determined using a discounted cash flow model for a similar
liability that does not have an equity conversion option, have been determined to
approximate the carrying amounts. Accordingly, the only financial instrument
stated at fair value in the statement of financial position are convertible notes as of
December 31, 2016, which are presented as a Level II liability in the amount of
$931,000.
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NOTE 18 – FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

Finance income and finance cots for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016, are detailed below:

In Thousands of US Dollars
Description 2018 2017 2016

Interest income $ 72 $ 11 $ 4

Interest and bank charges (18) (52) (118)
Financial costs –
Accretion of the other liabilities - (152) (116)
Net foreign exchange gain (7) (1) (10)
Net finance costs $ 47 $ (194) $ (240)

Finance income $ 65 $ 10 $ 4
Finance costs (18) (204) (244)
Net finance costs $ 47 $ (194) $ (240)

NOTE 19 - SEGMENT DISCLOSURES

The Corporation operates in one reportable segment, which is the Corporation’s
strategic business unit -the research and development of products for the aging
population.

Information regarding the geographic reportable segment is as follows:

In Thousands of US Dollars

Description Canada

United

States Europe
Revenues

2018 $ 1 $ 276 $ 22
2017 $ 5 $ 197 $ 21
2016 $ - $ 232 $ 51
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Property and equipment
December 31, 2018 $ – $ 33 $ –
December 31, 2017 $ 1 $ – $ –
December 31, 2016 $ 2 $ – $ –

Revenues are attributed to geographic locations based on location of customers.
Property and equipment is attributed to geographic locations based on its physical
location.

NOTE 20 - CONCENTRATIONS

Major customers

Customers that accounted for greater than 10% of revenues from sales of goods in
any of the last three years were as follows:

In Thousands of US Dollars
Description 2018 2017 2016
Customer A $ 34 $ 62 $ 7
Customer C $ 126 $ 90 $ 10

NOTE 21- RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The transactions we have with related parties are compensation arrangements for
both current compensation, share based compensation and compensation under
options for our officers and directors. We also paid service fees to two corporations
controlled by two of our officers.

Executive officers and directors participate in the Corporation’s stock option plan.
Executive officers are covered under the Corporation’s health plan.

Key management personnel compensation is comprised of:

In Thousands of US Dollars
Description 2018 2017 2016

Edgar Filing: BIGLARI HOLDINGS INC. - Form 10-Q

66



Salaries $ – $ – $ –
Short-term employee benefits 13 2 2
Stock-based compensation 3,814 6,072 9,071
Total $ 3,827 $ 6,074 $ 9,073

Total honorariums earned by the independent directors of the Corporation for
participation in Board and Committee meetings were $13,500, $0 and $0 for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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Our Chief Financial Officer receives no compensation as an individual and
receives no deferred or incentive compensation. We do make payments in the form
of contract for services rendered to a corporation controlled by him. Amounts paid
under this arrangement were $442,500, $240,000 and $250,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Our Corporate Legal Counsel receives no compensation as an individual and
receives no deferred or incentive compensation. We do make payments in the form
of contract for services rendered to a corporation controlled by him. Amounts paid
under this arrangement were $223,372, $199,950 and $180,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

NOTE 22 – RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Research and development expenses, excluding stock-based compensation and
depreciation expenses, allocated to our major research and development programs
are as follows:

In Thousands of US Dollars
For the Year Ended

December 31,
Research and Development
Program 2018 2017 2016
Research and Development Program $ 2 $ 1 $ 36
Alzheimer’s Disease: Therapeutics - 2 4
Anti-Infectives 4 4 3
BPH (En la rged  P ros t a t e )  and
Prostate Cancer Therapeutics 4,917 5,268 2,675
Tobacco Exposure Tests: NicAlert™
and TobacAlert™ 2 9 4
Total $ 4,925 $ 5,284 $ 2,722

NOTE 23 - PERSONNEL EXPENSES

A detailed analysis of personnel related expenses for the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016 is provided below:
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In Thousands of US Dollars
Description 2018 2017 2016
Salaries $ 518 $ 305 $ 277
Employer contributions 48 31 30
Short-term employee benefits 49 18 18
Stock-based compensation 3,883 6,072 9,071
Total $ 4,428 $ 6,426 $ 9,397

NOTE 24 - CAPITAL DISCLOSURES AND FINANCIAL RISK

On December 16, 2014, the Corporation issued secured convertible notes through a
private placement for aggregate gross proceeds of $1,070,000 which bears interest
at 6% per annum, payable quarterly with a maximum term of 3 years (see note 9).

In 2018, the Corporation raised $14,931,958 and issued 5,137,950 common shares
from private placement financings.
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Approximately 93%, 90% and 99% of expenses that occurred during the years
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, were denominated in US
dollars. Foreign exchange fluctuations had no meaningful impact on the
Corporation’s results in 2018, 2017 or 2016.

NOTE 25 - Foreign Exchange risk

We have no significant items exposed to foreign exchange.

Based on the Corporation’s foreign currency exposures, varying the above foreign
exchange rates to reflect a 5% strengthening of the US dollar would have
decreased the net loss for the year ended December 31, 2018 by approximately
$35,000, assuming that all other variables remained constant.

An assumed 5% weakening of the US dollar against the Canadian dollar would
have had an equal but opposite effect on the amount shown above, on the basis that
all other variables remained constant.

NOTE 26 - Credit risk

Credit risk results from the possibility that a loss may occur from the failure of
another party to perform according to the terms of the contract. Financial
instruments that potentially subject the Corporation to concentrations of credit risk
consist primarily of cash and trade and other accounts receivable. Cash is
maintained with high-credit quality financial institutions. For trade accounts
receivable, the Corporation performs periodic credit evaluations and typically does
not require collateral. Allowances are maintained for potential credit losses
consistent with the credit risk, historical trends, general economic conditions and
other information.

The Corporation has a limited number of customers. Included in the consolidated
statement of financial position as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 are trade
accounts receivable of $2,084, $78,397 and $6,421, respectively, all of which were
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aged under 45 days. One customer accounted for 100.0% and four customers
accounted for 100.00% of the trade receivables balance as of December 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016, respectively, all of whom have a good payment record with the
Corporation. No bad debt expense was recorded on trade accounts receivable for
the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 or 2016.

At December 31, 2018, the Corporation’s maximum credit exposure corresponded
to the carrying amount of cash, trade accounts receivable and other receivables.

NOTE 27 - Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Cash bears
interest at a variable rate. Trade accounts receivable, other receivables, trade
accounts payable and accrued liabilities bear no interest. Based on the value of
variable interest-bearing cash during the year ended December 31, 2018, an
assumed 0.5% increase or 0.5% decrease in interest rates during such period would
have had no significant effect on the net loss.

NOTE 28 - Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due. The Corporation manages liquidity risk through the
management of its capital structure, as outlined in Capital Disclosures above. The
Corporation does not have an operating credit facility and has historically financed
its activities primarily through an equity financing with various investment
companies and the issuance of convertible notes.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

In Thousands of US Dollars

Description
Carrying
Amount

Less
than

1 year

1 year to

5 years
Trade accounts payable and accrued
liabilities
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December 31, 2018 $ 1,075 $ 1,075 $ –
December 31, 2017 $ 2,230 $ 2,230 $ –
Convertible notes
December 31, 2018 $ - $ - $ –
December 31, 2017 $ - $ - $ –

NOTE 29 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Corporation has evaluated subsequent events through March 26, 2019, the date
the financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Audit Committee of
the Board of Directors. Although it has expressed no intention to do so the Audit
Committee has the authorization to amend these financial statements. The
corporation has determined there are no subsequent events except below:

On January 15th, 2019, the Corporation received issued shares and warrant
payment from an accredited investor for an amount of $5,000,000. This raised fund
is the final completion associated with an equity financing arrangement with the
investor in April, 2018.The investor purchased shares at $2.00 per share and has
been issued 2,500,000 shares and 2,500,000 warrant. The warrant has excise price
of $8.0 per share with a term of five years.
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ITEM 9. OFFER AND LISTING DETAILS

Nymox’s common shares trade on the NASDAQ Stock Market. Nymox’s common
shares traded on the NASDAQ National Market from December 1, 1997 until
September 16, 1999 when they began trading on the NASDAQ SmallCap Market,
now called the NASDAQ Capital Market. Nymox’s common shares also traded on
the Montreal Exchange from December 18, 1995 until November 19, 1999.

The following tables set out the high and low reported trading prices of the
common shares on the NASDAQ Stock Market during the periods indicated.

Annual High and Low Market Prices – Past Five Years

YEAR
ANNUAL
HIGH

ANNUAL
LOW

2014 $ 6.780 $ 0.330
2015 $ 4.37 $ 0.350
2016 $ 5.79 $ 1.62
2017 $ 5.10 $ 2.67
2018 $ 4.60 $ 1.25

Quarterly High and Low Market Prices – Past Two Years

YEAR
QUARTERLY

PERIOD

HIGH
SALES
PRICE

LOW
SALES
PRICE

2017 1st Quarter $ 4.10 $ 2.67
2nd Quarter $ 5.10 $ 3.28
3rd Quarter $ 4.38 $ 3.30
4th Quarter $ 4.24 $ 3.25

2018 1st Quarter $ 4.60 $ 3.00
2nd Quarter $ 4.43 $ 3.09
3rd Quarter $ 3.80 $ 2.42
4th Quarter $ 2.93 $ 1.25
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Monthly High and Low Market Prices – Most Recent Six Months

DATE
MONTHLY

HIGH
MONTHLY

LOW
October,
2018 $ 2.93 $ 1.49

November,
2018 $ 2.21 $ 1.62

December,
2018 $ 1.96 $ 1.25

January,
2019 $ 2.46 $ 1.32

February,
2019 $ 2.71 $ 2.12

March 26,
2019

(up to and
including
March 26,
2019) $ 2.35 $ 1.88
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ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Memorandum and Articles of Association

Bylaws and Articles of Incorporation

The Corporation’s Certificate of Continuation filed pursuant to the International
Business Companies Act of the Commonwealth of The Bahamas, which we refer
to as our articles of incorporation, are on file with the Acting Registrar General of
the Commonwealth of The Bahamas under Corporation Number 175894 (B). Our
articles of incorporation do not include a stated purpose and do not place any
restrictions on the business that the Corporation may carry on.

Directors

A director of our Corporation need not be a shareholder. In order to serve as a
director, a person must be a natural person at least 18 years of age, of sound mind
and not bankrupt. Neither our articles of incorporation or by-laws impose any
mandatory retirement requirements for directors.

Our bylaws authorizes the directors from time to time to determine the
remuneration for their services. There is no requirement for an independent
quorum.

A director who is a party to, or who is a director or officer of or has a material
interest in any person who is a party to, a material contract or transaction or
proposed material contract or transaction with our Corporation must disclose to the
Corporation the nature and extent of his or her interest at the time and in the
manner provided by the International Business Corporations Act. The International
Business Corporations Act prohibits such a director from voting on any resolution
to approve the contract or transaction unless the contract or transaction:
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• is an arrangement by way of security for money lent to or obligations
undertaken by the director for the benefit of the Corporation or an affiliate;

• relates primarily to his or her remuneration as a director, officer, employee
or agent of the Corporation or an affiliate;

• is for indemnity or insurance for director’s liability as permitted by the Act;
or

• is with an affiliate.

Our board of directors may, on behalf of the Corporation and without authorization
of our shareholders:

• borrow money upon the credit of the Corporation;

• issue, reissue, sell or pledge debt obligations of the Corporation;

• give a guarantee on behalf of the Corporation to secure performance of an
obligation of any person; and

• mortgage, hypothecate, pledge or otherwise create a security interest in all
or any property of the Corporation, owned or subsequently acquired, to
secure any obligation of the Corporation.
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The International Business Corporations Act prohibits the giving of a guarantee to
any shareholder, director, officer or employee of the Corporation or of an affiliated
corporation or to an associate of any such person for any purpose or to any person
for the purpose of or in connection with a purchase of a share issued or to be issued
by the Corporation or its affiliates, where there are reasonable grounds for
believing that the Corporation is or, after giving the guarantee, would be unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due, or the realizable value of the Corporation’s
assets in the form of assets pledged or encumbered to secure a guarantee, after
giving the guarantee, would be less than the aggregate of the Corporation’s
liabilities and stated capital of all classes.

These borrowing powers may be varied by the Corporation’s bylaws or its articles
of incorporation. However, our bylaws and articles of incorporation do not contain
any restrictions on or variations of these borrowing powers.

Common Shares

Our articles of incorporation authorize the issuance of an unlimited number of
common shares. They do not authorize the issuance of any other class of shares.

The holders of the common shares of our Corporation are entitled to receive notice
of and to attend all meetings of the shareholders of our Corporation and have one
vote for each common share held at all meetings of the shareholders of our
Corporation. Our directors are elected at each annual meeting of shareholders and
do not stand for reelection at staggered intervals.

The holders of common shares are entitled to receive dividends and the
Corporation will pay dividends, as and when declared by our board of directors,
out of moneys properly applicable to the payment of dividends, in such amount
and in such form as our board of directors may from time to time determine, and
all dividends which our board of directors may declare on the common shares shall
be declared and paid in equal amounts per share on all common shares at the time
outstanding.
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In the event of the dissolution, liquidation or winding-up of the Corporation,
whether voluntary or involuntary, or any other distribution of assets of the
Corporation among its shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs, the
holders of the common shares will be entitled to receive the remaining property
and assets of the Corporation.

There are no redemption provisions and no liability for further capital calls
associated with the Corporation’s common stock.

Action Necessary to Change Rights Of Shareholders

In order to change the rights of our shareholders, we would need to amend our
articles of incorporation to effect the change. Such an amendment would require
the approval of holders of two-thirds of the shares cast at a duly called special
meeting. For certain amendments such as those creating of a class of preferred
shares, a shareholder is entitled to dissent in respect of such a resolution amending
our articles and, if the resolution is adopted and the Corporation implements such
changes, demand payment of the fair value of its shares.

Meetings of Shareholders

An annual meeting of shareholders is held each year for the purpose of considering
the financial statements and reports, electing directors, appointing auditors and for
the transaction of other business as may be brought before the meeting. The board
of directors has the power to call a special meeting of shareholders at any time.

Notice of the time and place of each meeting of shareholders must be given not
less than 21 days, nor more than 60 days, before the date of each meeting to each
director, to the auditor and to each shareholder who at the close of business on the
record date for notice is entered in the securities register as the holder of one or
more shares carrying the right to vote at the meeting. Notice of meeting of
shareholders called for any other purpose other than consideration of the minutes
of an earlier meeting, financial statements and auditor’s report, election of directors
and reappointment of the incumbent auditor, must state the nature of the business
in sufficient detail to permit the shareholder to form a reasoned judgment on and
must state the text of any special resolution or by-law to be submitted to the
meeting.
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The only persons entitled to be present at a meeting of shareholders are those
entitled to vote, the directors of the Corporation and the auditor of the Corporation.
Any other person may be admitted only on the invitation of the chairman of the
meeting or with the consent of the meeting. In circumstances where a court orders
a meeting of shareholders, the court may direct how the meeting may be held,
including who may attend the meeting.

Limitations on Right To Own Securities

Neither the International Business Corporation Act nor our articles or by-laws limit
the right of a nonresident to hold or vote our shares, as amended by the World
Trade Organization Agreement Implementation Act.

(a)
An acquisition of our shares if the acquisition were made in the ordinary
course of that person’s business as a trader or dealer in securities;

(b) an acquisition of control of the Corporation in connection with the
foreclosure of a security interest granted for a loan or other assistance and
not for any purpose related to the provisions the Investment Act; and

(c) an acquisition of control of the Corporation by reason of an amalgamation,
consolidation or corporate reorganization, following which the direct or
indirect control in fact of the Corporation, through ownership of voting
interests, remains unchanged.

Change of Control

There are no provisions of our bylaws or articles of incorporation that would have
an effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of the
Corporation and that would operate only with respect to a merger, acquisition or
corporate restructuring involving the Corporation. Our bylaws do not contain a
provision governing the ownership threshold above which shareholder ownership
must be disclosed.

Material Contracts
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The following is a summary of the material contracts to which the Corporation is a
party, for the three years ended March 26, 2019.

1. On December 16, 2014, the Corporation issued secured convertible notes
through a private placement for aggregate gross proceeds of $1,070,000,
which bear interest at 6% per annum, payable quarterly with a maximum
term of 3 years. The Corporation will also pay an administrative fee of 2%
per annum on the outstanding principal amount, calculated quarterly and
paid at the same time that interest is paid on these notes. The Corporation
has agreed to grant a first lien on its assets to secure its obligations under the
note. The notes are convertible at the holder’s option at any time into
common shares of the Corporation at a conversion price of $0.533 per share.
The note converted in full by the year end of 2017

2. This prospectus supplement and accompanying prospectus relates to the
issuance and sale of up to $12,000,000 of our common stock, no par value
per share, from time to time through our sales agent, Chardan Capital
Markets, LLC, or Chardan. These sales, if any, will be made under an equity
distribution agreement, dated February 5, 2016, between us and Chardan,
which we refer to as the equity distribution agreement.

Sales of our common stock, if any, under this prospectus supplement and the
accompanying prospectus may be made by any method permitted by law deemed
to be an “at-the-market” offering as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, which we refer to as the Securities Act, including sales made
directly on The NASDAQ Capital Market, on any other existing trading market for
our common stock or to or through a market maker or through an electronic
communications network. If expressly authorized by us, Chardan may also sell our
common stock in privately negotiated transactions. Chardan will act as sales agent
on a commercially reasonable efforts basis, consistent with its normal trading and
sales practices and applicable state and federal laws, rules and regulations and the
rules of NASDAQ. There is no specific date on which the offering will end, there
are no minimum sale requirements and there are no arrangements to place any of
the proceeds of this offering in an escrow, trust or similar account.
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Chardan will be entitled to compensation at a fixed commission rate of 3.0% of the
gross proceeds from the sale of our common stock pursuant to the equity
distribution agreement. In connection with the sale of the common stock on our
behalf, Chardan may, and will with respect to sales effected in an “at-the-market”
offering, be deemed to be an “underwriter” within the meaning of the Securities Act,
and the compensation of Chardan may be deemed to be underwriting commissions
or discounts. We have also agreed to provide indemnification and contribution to
Chardan against certain civil liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities
Act.

Exchange Controls

The Bahamas has no system of exchange controls. There are no exchange
restrictions on borrowing from foreign countries or on the remittance of dividends,
interest, royalties and similar payments, management fees, loan repayments,
settlement of trade debts or the repatriation of capital.

There are no limitations on the rights of non-Canadians to exercise voting rights on
their shares of Nymox.

Taxation

U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations for U.S. Persons

This section contains a summary of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations
for U.S. Persons (as defined below) who hold common shares of Nymox. This
summary is based upon the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), Treasury regulations, rulings of the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”), and
judicial decisions in existence on the date hereof, all of which are subject to
change. Any such change could apply retroactively and could have adverse
consequences to Nymox and its shareholders. This summary is necessarily general
and does not attempt to summarize all aspects of the federal tax laws (and does not
attempt to summarize any state or local laws) that may affect an investor’s
acquisition of an interest in Nymox. No ruling from the IRS will be requested and
no assurance can be given that the IRS will agree with the tax consequences
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described in this summary.

For purposes of this discussion, the term “U.S. Person” means (a) an individual who
is a citizen of the United States or who is resident in the United States for United
States federal income tax purposes, (b) a corporation or a partnership that is
organized under the laws of the United States or any state thereof, (c) an estate the
income of which is subject to United States federal income taxation regardless of
its source, or (d) a trust (i) that is subject to the supervision of a court within the
United States and is subject to the control of one or more United States persons as
described in the Code, or (ii) that has a valid election in effect under applicable
Treasury regulations to be treated as a United States person. The term “U.S. Holder”
means a shareholder of Nymox who is a U.S. Person. The term “foreign corporation”
means an entity that is classified as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax
purposes and that is not organized under the laws of the United States or any state
thereof.

This summary does not discuss all United States federal income tax considerations
that may be relevant to U.S. Holders in light of their particular circumstances or to
certain holders that may be subject to special treatment under United States federal
income tax law (for example, insurance companies, tax-exempt organizations,
financial institutions, dealers in securities, persons who hold shares as part of a
straddle, hedging, constructive sale, or conversion transaction, U.S. Holders whose
functional currency is not the U.S. dollar, and U.S. Holders who acquired shares
through exercise of employee stock options or otherwise as compensation for
services). Furthermore, this summary does not address any aspects of state or local
taxation.
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The tax consequences of an investment in Nymox are complex and based on
tax provisions that are subject to change. You are urged to consult with, and
must depend upon, your own tax advisors with specific reference to your own
tax situations as to the income and other tax consequences of an investment in
Nymox.

Dividends and gains on sale. Except as described below with respect to the “passive
foreign investment corporation” rules, dividends paid by Nymox to a U.S. Holder,
without reduction for Canadian withholding taxes, will be included in the gross
income of such U.S. Holder, as a dividend, to the extent paid out of current or
accumulated earnings and profits, as determined under U.S. federal income tax.
Such dividends will not be eligible for the dividend-received deduction generally
allowed under the Code to dividend recipients that are U.S. corporations. The
amount of any distribution in excess of Nymox’s current and accumulated earnings
and profits will first be applied to reduce the U.S. Holder’s tax basis in its Nymox
common shares, and any amount in excess of tax basis will be treated as gain from
the sale or exchange of the common shares. A dividend paid by Nymox generally
will be taxed at the preferential tax rates applicable to long-term capital gains
(where the maximum federal rate is currently 20%) if (a) Nymox is a “qualified
foreign corporation” as defined in Section 1(h)(11) of the Code, (a “QFC”), (b) the
U.S. Holder receiving such dividend is an individual, estate, or trust, and (c) such
dividend is paid on common shares that have been held by such U.S. Holder for at
least 61 days during the 121-day period beginning 60 days before the “ex-dividend
date” (i.e., the first date that a purchaser of such common shares will not be entitled
to receive such dividend). Nymox currently meets the definition of a QFC because
its common shares are readily tradable on the Nasdaq Stock Market, an established
securities market in the United States, provided that Nymox is not a “passive
foreign investment corporation” (as described below) for the taxable year during
which Nymox pays a dividend or for the preceding taxable year. If Nymox were to
be delisted from the Nasdaq Stock Market, it is not clear whether Nymox would
meet the definition of a QFC. If Nymox is not a QFC, a dividend paid by Nymox
to a U.S. Holder that is an individual, estate, or trust generally will be taxed at
ordinary income tax rates (and not at the preferential tax rates applicable to
long-term capital gains). The dividend rules are complex, and each U.S. Holder
should consult its own financial advisor, legal counsel, or accountant regarding the
dividend rules.

Except as described below with respect to the “passive foreign investment
corporation” rules, any gain recognized by a U.S. Holder on a sale or exchange of
Nymox common shares (or on a distribution treated as a sale or exchange)
generally will be treated as capital gain. Capital gains of corporations are taxable at
the same rate as ordinary income. With respect to non-corporate taxpayers, the
excess of net long-term capital gain over net short term capital loss may be taxed at
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a substantially lower rate than is ordinary income. A capital gain or loss is
long-term if the asset has been held for more than one year and short-term if held
for one year or less. In addition, the distinction between capital gain or loss and
ordinary income or loss is relevant for purposes of limitations on the deductibility
of capital losses.

A U.S. Holder generally may claim a credit against its U.S. federal income tax
liability for Canadian income tax withheld from dividends received on Nymox
common shares. The amount of this credit is subject to several limitations under
the Code.

Controlled foreign corporation rules. A foreign corporation generally is classified
as a “controlled foreign corporation” (a “CFC”) if more than 50% of the corporation’s
shares (by vote or value) are owned, directly or indirectly, by “10% U.S.
Shareholders”. For this purpose, a “10% U.S. Shareholder” is a U.S. Person that owns,
directly or indirectly, shares possessing 10% or more of the voting power in the
foreign corporation. Nymox believes that it is not a CFC at the present time. If
Nymox were a CFC, each 10% U.S. Shareholder that owns, directly or indirectly
through foreign entities, an interest in Nymox generally would be required to
include in its gross income for U.S. federal income tax purposes a pro-rata share of
any “Subpart F” income earned by Nymox, whether or not such income is distributed
by Nymox. Subpart F income generally includes interest, dividends, royalties, gain
on the sale of stock or securities and certain other categories of income.

Passive foreign investment corporation rules. In general, a foreign corporation is a
“passive foreign investment corporation” (a “PFIC”) during a taxable year if 75% or
more of its gross income for the taxable year constitutes “passive income” or if 50%
or more of its assets (by average fair market value) held during the taxable year
produce, or are held for the production of, passive income. In general, any U.S.
Person that owns, directly or indirectly, an interest in a foreign corporation will be
subject to an interest charge (in addition to regular U.S. federal income tax) upon
the disposition by the U.S. Person of, or receipt by the U.S. Person of “excess
distributions” with respect to, any shares of the foreign corporation if: (i) the foreign
corporation is a PFIC during the taxable year in which such income is realized by
the U.S. Person; or (ii) the foreign corporation was a PFIC during any prior taxable
year that is included in whole or in part in the U.S. Person’s “holding period” (within
the meaning of Section 1223 of the Code) with respect to its interest in the shares
of the foreign corporation. Furthermore, the U.S. Person’s share of such gain or
“excess distribution” will be taxable as ordinary income. There exist several other
adverse tax consequences that may apply to any U.S. Person that owns, directly or
indirectly, an interest in a PFIC.
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A U.S. Person that owns, directly or indirectly, an interest in a PFIC can elect to
treat such PFIC as a “qualified electing fund” (a “QEF”) with respect to the U.S.
Person. In general, the effect of a QEF election with respect to a PFIC is that,
beginning with the first taxable year to which the election applies and in all
succeeding taxable years during which the foreign corporation is a PFIC, the U.S.
Person is required to include in its income its share of the ordinary earnings and net
capital gains of the PFIC. The U.S. Person is not taxable with respect to any
distribution by the PFIC from earnings that have been included previously in the
U.S. Person’s income under the QEF provisions. If the QEF election is made with
respect to the first taxable year in which a U.S. Person owns, directly or indirectly,
an interest in the particular PFIC, the adverse tax consequences described in the
immediately preceding paragraph (including the interest charge and the treatment
of gains as ordinary income) would not apply to the U.S. Person’s interest in that
PFIC. In order to make a QEF election, a U.S. Person is required to provide to the
IRS certain information furnished by the PFIC.

Nymox believes that it has not been a PFIC during any taxable year ending on or
before December 31, 2014. There can be no assurance that Nymox will not be a
PFIC during its current taxable year. Because PFIC classification cannot be
determined until the close of a taxable year, is determined annually, and depends
on the application of complex rules which are subject to differing interpretations,
there can be no assurance that Nymox has never been and will not become a PFIC
for any taxable year during which U.S. Holders hold Nymox common stock.
Nymox intends to notify its U.S. Holders within 45 days after the end of any
taxable year for which Nymox believes it might be a PFIC. Nymox has further
undertaken (i) to provide its U.S. Holders with timely and accurate information as
to its status as a PFIC and the manner in which the QEF election can be made and
(ii) to comply with all record-keeping, reporting and other requirements so that the
U.S. Holders, at their option, may make a QEF election.

Each U.S. Person who owns, directly or indirectly, common shares of Nymox is
urged to consult its own tax advisor with respect to the advantages and
disadvantages of making a QEF election with respect to Nymox.

Information Reporting and Backup withholding. Information reporting to the IRS
may be required with respect to payments of dividends on the Nymox common
shares to U.S. Holders, and with respect to proceeds received by U.S. Holders on
the sale of Nymox common shares. A U.S. Holder may be subject to backup
withholding with respect to dividends received with respect to Nymox common
shares, or proceeds received on the sale of Nymox common shares through a
broker, unless the U.S. Holder (i) demonstrates that it qualifies for an applicable
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exemption (such as the exemption for holders that are corporations), or (ii)
provides a taxpayer identification number and complies with certain other
requirements. Any amount withheld from payment to a U.S. Holder under the
backup withholding rules generally will be allowed as credit against the U.S.
Holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability, if any, and may entitle the U.S. Holder to
a refund, provided that the required information is furnished to the IRS.

In addition, certain categories of U.S. Holders that hold certain “foreign financial
assets” (which may include Nymox common shares), over a certain threshold, must
file IRS Form 8938 to report information relating to such assets, subject to certain
exceptions. Each U.S. Holder should consult its own financial advisor, legal
counsel, or accountant regarding the application of these information reporting and
backup withholding rules to it.

Medicare Contribution Tax. Certain U.S. Holders who are individuals, estates or
trusts are required to pay up to an additional 3.8% tax on, among other things,
dividends and capital gains. Each U.S. Holder should consult its own financial
advisor, legal counsel or accountant regarding the possible application of this
additional tax to income earned with respect to Nymox common shares.

Canadian Federal Income Taxation

The following summary describes the principal  Canadian federal  tax
considerations generally applicable to a shareholder who holds as beneficial owner
common shares of Nymox and who, at all relevant times, for purposes of the
Income Tax Act (Canada) and the Income Tax Regulations (collectively, the “Tax
Act”), (1) holds the common shares of Nymox as capital property, (2) deals at arm’s
length with Nymox , (3) is not affiliated with Nymox, and (4) has not entered into,
with respect to their common shares of Nymox, a “derivative forward agreement” as
that term is defined in the Tax Act (a “Holder”). Generally, the common shares of
Nymox will be capital property to a Holder provided the Holder does not acquire
or hold their common shares of Nymox in the course of carrying on a business or
provided the Holder has not acquired their common shares of Nymox as part of an
adventure in the nature of trade.
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This summary is based on the current provisions of the Tax Act, and an
understanding of the current administrative and assessing practices and policies of
the Canada Revenue Agency published in writing prior to the date hereof. This
summary takes into account all specific proposals to amend the Tax Act publicly
announced by or on behalf of the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date
hereof (the “Proposed Amendments”) and assumes that all Proposed Amendments
will be enacted in the form proposed. However, no assurances can be given that the
Proposed Amendments will be enacted as proposed, or at all. This summary does
not otherwise take into account or anticipate any changes in law or administrative
policy or assessing practice whether by legislative, administrative or judicial action
nor does it take into account tax legislation or considerations of any province,
territory or foreign jurisdiction, which may differ from those discussed herein.
This summary is of a general nature only and is not, and is not intended to be,
legal or tax advice to any particular Holder. This summary is not exhaustive
of all possible Canadian federal income tax considerations. Accordingly,
Holders should consult their own tax advisors having regard to their own
particular circumstances.

Generally, for purposes of the Tax Act, all amounts relating to the acquisition,
holding or disposition of common shares of Nymox must be converted into
Canadian dollars based on exchange rates as determined in accordance with the
Tax Act. The amount of dividends required to be included in the income of, and
capital gains or capital losses realized by, a Holder may be affected by fluctuations
in the Canadian / U.S. dollar exchange rate.

Canadian Resident Holders

The following portion of the summary is generally applicable to a Holder who, at
all relevant times, for purposes of the Tax Act, is, or is deemed to be resident in
Canada (a “Resident Holder”). Certain Resident Holders may be entitled to make or
may have already made the irrevocable election permitted by subsection 39(4) of
the Tax Act the effect of which may be to deem to be capital property any common
shares of Nymox (and all other “Canadian securities”, as defined in the Tax Act)
owned by such Resident Holder in the taxation year in which the election is made
and in all subsequent taxation years. Resident Holders whose common shares of
Nymox might not otherwise be considered to be capital property should consult
their own tax advisors concerning this election. This portion of the summary is not
applicable to (i) a Holder that is a “specified financial institution” , (ii) a Holder an
interest in which is a “tax shelter investment”, (iii) a Holder that is, for purposes of
certain rules (referred to as the mark-to-market rules) applicable to securities held
by financial institutions, a “financial institution” , or (iv) a Holder that reports its
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“Canadian tax results” in a currency other than Canadian currency, or (v) a Holder
that is a corporation and is, or becomes as part of a transaction or event or series of
transactions or events that includes the acquisition of common shares of Nymox,
controlled by a non-resident corporation for the purposes of the foreign affiliate
dumping rules in proposed section 212.3 of the Tax Act , each as defined in the
Tax Act. Such Holders should consult their own tax advisors.

Dividends

A Resident Holder will be required to include in computing its income for a
taxation year any dividends received (or deemed to be received) on the common
shares of Nymox. In the case of a Resident Holder that is an individual (other than
certain trusts), such dividends will be subject to the gross-up and dividend tax
credit rules applicable to taxable dividends received from taxable Canadian
corporations, including the enhanced gross-up and dividend tax credit applicable to
any dividends designated by Nymox as an eligible dividend in accordance with the
provisions of the Tax Act. A dividend received (or deemed to be received) by a
Resident Holder that is a corporation will generally be deductible in computing the
corporation’s taxable income.

A Resident Holder that is “private corporation”, as defined in the Tax Act, or any
other corporation controlled, whether because of a beneficial interest in one or
more trusts or otherwise, by or for the benefit of an individual (other than a trust)
or a related group of individuals (other than trusts), will generally be liable to pay a
refundable tax of 33 1/3 % under Part IV of the Tax Act on dividends received (or
deemed to be received) on the common shares of Nymox to the extent such
dividends are deductible in computing the Resident Holder’s taxable income for the
taxation year.
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Dispositions

Generally, on a disposition or deemed disposition of a common share of Nymox,
the Resident Holder will realize a capital gain (or capital loss) equal to the amount,
if any, by which the proceeds of disposition, net of any reasonable costs of
disposition, exceed (or are less than) the adjusted cost base to the Resident Holder
of the common share of Nymox immediately before the disposition or deemed
disposition.

The adjusted cost base to the Resident Holder of a common share of Nymox will
be determined by averaging the cost of such common share of Nymox with the
adjusted cost base of all other common shares of Nymox owned by the Resident
Holder as capital property at that time, if any.

Generally, a Resident Holder is required to include in computing its income for a
taxation year one-half of the amount of any capital gain (a “taxable capital gain”)
realized in the year. Subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Tax
Act, a Resident Holder is required to deduct one-half of the amount of any capital
loss (an “allowable capital loss”) realized in a taxation year from taxable capital
gains realized by the Resident Holder in the year and allowable capital losses in
excess of taxable capital gains for the year may be carried back and deducted in
any of the three preceding taxation years or carried forward and deducted in any
subsequent taxation year against net taxable capital gains realized in such years.

The amount of any capital loss realized by a Resident Holder that is a corporation
on the disposition of a common share of Nymox may be reduced by the amount of
any dividends received (or deemed to be received) by the Resident Holder on a
common share of Nymox to the extent and under the circumstances prescribed by
the Tax Act. Similar rules may apply where a common share of Nymox is owned
by a partnership or trust of which a corporation, trust or partnership is a member or
beneficiary. Such Resident Holders should consult their own tax advisors.

Holders Not Resident in Canada
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The following portion of the summary is generally applicable to a Holder who, at
all relevant times, for purposes of the Tax Act, is not, and is not deemed to be,,
resident in Canada and does not use or hold, and is not deemed to use or hold,
common shares of Nymox in a business carried on in Canada (a “Non-Resident
Holder”). Special rules, which are not discussed in this summary, may apply to a
holder that is not resident in Canada that is an insurance business in Canada and
elsewhere.

Dividends

Dividends paid or credited on the common shares of Nymox or deemed to be paid
or credited on the common shares of Nymox will be subject to Canadian
withholding tax at the rate of 25%, subject to any reduction in the rate of
withholding to which the Non-Resident Holder is entitled under any applicable
income tax convention. . For example, under the Canada-United States Tax
Convention (1980), as amended (the “Canada-U.S. Tax Treaty”), where dividends
on the common shares of Nymox are considered to be paid to or derived by a
Non-Resident Holder that is the beneficial owner of the dividends and is a U.S.
resident for the purposes of, and is entitled to benefits of, the Canada-U.S. Tax
Treaty, the applicable rate of Canadian withholding tax is generally reduced to
15%.

Dispositions

A Non-Resident Holder will not be subject to tax under the Tax Act on any capital
gain realized on the disposition or deemed disposition of common shares of
Nymox, unless the common shares of Nymox are “taxable Canadian property” to the
NonResident Holder for purposes of the Tax Act and the Non-Resident Holder is
not entitled to relief under an applicable income tax convention between Canada
and the country in which the Non-Resident Holder is resident. Generally, the
common shares of Nymox will not constitute taxable Canadian property to a
Non-Resident Holder at a particular time provided that the common shares of
Nymox are listed at that time on a designated stock exchange (which includes the
NASDAQ), unless at any particular time during the 60-month period that ends at
that time (i) one or any combination of (a) the Non-Resident Holder, (b) persons
with whom the Non-Resident Holder does not deal with at arm’s length, and (c)
partnerships in which the Non-Resident Holder or a person described in (b) holds a
membership interest directly or indirectly through one or more partnerships, has
owned 25% or more of the issued shares of any class or series of the capital stock
of Nymox, and (ii) more than 50% of the fair market value of the common shares
of Nymox was derived directly or indirectly from one or any combination of: (i)
real or immovable properties situated in Canada, (ii) “Canadian resource properties”
(as defined in the Tax Act), (iii) “timber resource properties” (as defined in the Tax
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Act), and (iv) options in respect of, or interests in, or for civil law rights in,
property in  any of  the foregoing whether  or  not  the property exis ts .
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in certain circumstances set out in the Tax Act,
common shares of Nymox could be deemed to be taxable Canadian property
NonResident Holders whose common shares of Nymox may constitute taxable
Canadian property should consult their own tax advisors.
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Documents on Display

Nymox is subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). In accordance with these requirements,
the Corporation files reports and other information with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. These materials, including this Annual Report on Form
20-F and the exhibits hereto, may be inspected and copied at the Commission’s
Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Copies of
the materials may be obtained from the Commission’s Public Reference Room at
prescribed rates. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may
be obtained by calling the Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330. The Commission
maintains an internet site (http://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and
information statements, and other information regarding issuers, including Nymox,
that file electronically with the Commission.

We are required to file reports and other information with the securities
commissions in all provinces of Canada. You also are invited to read and copy any
reports, statements or other information, other than confidential filings, that we file
with the provincial securities commissions. These filings are also electronically
available from the Canadian System for Electronic Document Analysis and
Retrieval (“SEDAR”) (http://www.sedar.com), the Canadian equivalent of the SEC’s
electronic document gathering and retrieval system. This material includes our
Management Information Circular for the most recent annual meeting, which
provides information including directors’ and officers’, remuneration and
indebtedness, principal holders of securities and securities authorized for issuance
under equity compensation plans. Additional financial information is provided in
our annual financial statements and our Management’s Discussion and Analysis
relating to these statements. These documents are also accessible on SEDAR
(www.sedar.com).

We will provide without charge to each person, including any beneficial owner, on
the written or oral request of such person, a copy of any or all documents referred
to above which have been or may be incorporated by reference in this Annual
Report on Form 20-F (not including exhibits to such incorporated information that
are not specifically incorporated by reference into such information). Requests for
such copies should be directed to us at the following address: Nymox
Pharmaceutical Corporation, Bay & Deveaux Sts., Nassau The Bahamas,
Attention: Investor Relations. Telephone (800) 936-9669. Facsimile (514)
332-2227 EMAIL: info@nymox.com
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ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT
MARKET RISK

Capital disclosures

The Corporation’s objective in managing capital is to ensure a sufficient liquidity
position to finance its research and development activities, general and
administrative expenses, working capital and overall capital expenditures,
including those associated with patents. The Corporation makes every attempt to
manage its liquidity to minimize shareholder dilution when possible.

The Corporation defines capital as total equity. To fund its activities, the
Corporation has followed an approach that relies almost exclusively on the
issuance of common shares and, during 2010, entered into a collaboration
agreement. Since inception, the Corporation has financed its liquidity needs
primarily through private placements and, since 2003, through a financing
agreement with an investment company that has been replaced annually by a new
agreement with the same purchaser (see note 12 - Common Stock Private Purchase
Agreement of the Consolidated Financial Statements). As of the date of the
MD&A, the Common Stock Private Purchase Agreement has expired. In 2018, the
Corporation raised $14,931,958 and issued 5,137,950 common shares from private
placement financings.
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The Corporation’s ability to raise capital through the Agreement and other sources
of financing will be impacted by the market price and trading volumes of its
common shares. The results of the NX02-0017 and NX02-0018 clinical trials may
adversely affect the Corporation’s ability to raise capital on a timely basis, requiring
the Corporation to reduce its cash requirements by eliminating or deferring
spending on research, development and corporate activities. In addition, other
sources of financing may not be available or may be available only at a price or on
terms that are not favorable to the Corporation. The capital management objectives
remain the same as for the previous fiscal year. When possible, the Corporation
tries to optimize its liquidity needs by non-dilutive sources, including sales,
collaboration agreements, research tax credits and interest income. The
Corporation’s general policy on dividends is to retain cash to keep funds available
to finance its research and development and operating expenses.

Other than the financing discussed above, the Corporation does not have arranged
sources of financing. See Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Corporation is not subject to any capital requirements imposed by external
parties other than the Nasdaq Capital Market requirements related to the Listing
Rules. Failure to meet the listing requirements may lead to delisting from the
Nasdaq Capital Market in which case the Corporation will consider an alternate
trading platform for its common shares.

Financial risk management

This section provides disclosures relating to the nature and extent of the
Corporation’s exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including
foreign currency risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk, and to how the
Corporation manages those risks.

Foreign currency risk

The Corporation uses the US dollar as its measurement currency because a
substantial portion of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities of its Canadian and
US operations are denominated in US dollars. The Corporation’s equity financing
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facility is also in US dollars. Foreign currency risk is limited to the portion of the
Corporation’s business transactions denominated in currencies other than the US
dollar. The Canadian operation has transactions denominated in Canadian dollars,
principally relating to salaries and rent. Additional variability arises from the
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than
the US dollar at each statement of financial position date. Fluctuations in the
currency used for the payment of the Corporation’s expenses denominated in
currencies other than the US dollar (primarily Canadian dollars) could cause
unanticipated fluctuations in the Corporation’s operating results, but would not
impair or enhance its ability to pay its Canadian dollar denominated obligations.
The Corporation’s objective in managing its foreign currency risk is to minimize its
net exposures to foreign currency cash flows by transacting with parties in US
dollars to the maximum extent possible. The Corporation does not engage in the
use of derivative financial instruments to manage its currency exposures.

Approximately 93% of expenses that occurred during the year ended December 31,
2018 (2017 - 90%; 2016 - 99%) were denominated in US dollars. Foreign
exchange fluctuations had no meaningful impact on the Corporation’s results in
2018, 2017 or 2016.

The following table provides significant items exposed to foreign exchange:

CA$

December
31,

2018

December
31,

2017
Cash $ 47,148 $ 21,039
Trade  accounts  rece ivab le  and  o ther
receivables 13,644 9,810
Trade  accounts  payab le  and  accrued
liabilities (298,603) (37,390)
Total $ (237,811) $ (6,541)

The following exchange rates were applied for the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016:
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Description

Average
rate

(twelve
months)

Reporting
date rate

US$ - CA$ - December 31, 2018 1.2957 1.3642
US$ - CA$ - December 31, 2017 1.2986 1.2545
US$ - CA$ - December 31, 2016 1.3253 1.3427

Based on the Corporation’s foreign currency exposures noted above, varying the
above foreign exchange rates to reflect a 5% strengthening of the US dollar against
the Canadian dollar would have decreased the net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2018 by approximately $35,000, assuming that all other variables
remained constant.

An assumed 5% weakening of the US dollar against the Canadian dollar would
have had an equal but opposite effect on the amount shown above, on the basis that
all other variables remained constant.

Credit risk

Credit risk results from the possibility that a loss may occur from the failure of
another party to perform according to the terms of the contract. Financial
instruments that potentially subject the Corporation to concentrations of credit risk
consist primarily of cash and trade accounts receivable. Cash is maintained with
high-credit quality financial institutions. For trade accounts receivable, the
Corporation performs periodic credit evaluations and typically does not require
collateral. Allowances are maintained for potential credit losses consistent with the
credit risk, historical trends, general economic conditions and other information.

The Corporation has a limited number of customers. Included in the consolidated
statement of financial position are trade accounts receivable of $2,084 (December
31, 2017 - $78,397), all of which were aged under 45 days. One customer
(December 31, 2017 - four customers) accounted for 100.0% (December 31, 2017 –
100.0%) of the trade receivables balance at December 31, 2018, all of whom have
a good payment record with the Corporation. No bad debt expense on trade
accounts receivable was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2018, nor for
the year ended December 31, 2017.

Edgar Filing: BIGLARI HOLDINGS INC. - Form 10-Q

98



At December 31, 2018, the Corporation’s maximum credit exposure corresponded
to the carrying amount of cash, trade accounts receivable and other receivables.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Cash bears
interest at a variable rate. Trade accounts receivable, other receivables, trade
accounts payable and accrued liabilities bear no interest. The convertible notes bear
interest at 6% per annum. In addition, the Corporation pays an administrative fee
of 2% per annum under the terms of the convertible notes. The note was converted
in full by the year end of December 31, 2017.The Corporation has no other
interest-bearing financial instruments.

Based on the value of variable interest-bearing cash during the year ended
December 31, 2018, an assumed 0.5% increase or 0.5% decrease in interest rates
during such period would have had no significant effect on the net loss.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due. The Corporation manages liquidity risk through the
management of its capital structure, as outlined in note 25 - Capital disclosures.
The Corporation does not have an operating credit facility and has historically
financed its activities primarily through an equity financing agreement with an
investment company, as described in note 11 - Common Stock Private Purchase
Agreement and the issuance of a convertible notes as described in note 9 –
Convertible notes of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Corporation’s ability to raise capital through other sources of financing will be
impacted by the market price and trading volumes of its common shares. The
results of the NX02-0017 and NX02-0018 clinical trials may adversely affect the
Corporation’s ability to raise capital on a timely basis, requiring the Corporation to
reduce its cash requirements by eliminating or deferring spending on research,
development and corporate activities. In addition, other sources of financing may
not be available or may be available only at a price or on terms that are not
favorable to the Corporation.

In addition to financing operations through the issuance of equity, the Corporation
may also secure additional funding through the issuance of debt, licensing or
partnering products in development, increasing revenue from our products, or
realizing on intellectual property and other assets. There can be no assurances that
the Corporation will be successful in realizing on any such potential opportunities
for additional funding at a price or on terms that are favorable to the Corporation.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

Trade accounts payable and
accrued liabilities:

Carrying

Amount

Less than

1 year

1 year
to

5 years
December 31, 2018 $ 1,074,670 $ 1,074,670 –
December 31, 2017 $ 2,230,487 $ 2,230,487 –

Convertible notes (1) :
December 31, 2018 $ - - $ –
December 31, 2017 $ - - $ –
(1) Beforefinancingcosts

ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY
SECURITIES

None.
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I T EM  1 3 .  D E F AU L T S ,  D I V I D E ND  A RR EARAGE S  A N D
DELINQUENCIES

None.

ITEM 14.  MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF
SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None.

ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures. In accordance with Rule 13a-15(b) of the
Exchange Act, the Corporation’s management, including the Chief Executive
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design
and operation of the Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this
Annual Report on Form 20-F and concluded that the disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of December 31, 2018.
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The Corporation’s management has concluded that the Consolidated Financial
Statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018 present fairly, in all
material respects, the Corporation’s financial position, results of operations and
cash flows for the periods disclosed in conformity with International Financial
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Thayer O’Neal Company, LLC has issued its report dated March 26, 2019, which
expressed an unqualified opinion on those Consolidated Financial Statements.

(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Exchange
Act. The Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to
provide reasonable assurance to management and our board of directors regarding
the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements.

The Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the Corporation; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
Corporation are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the Corporation; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of
the Corporation’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer
and our Chief Financial Officer, management conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, as of December 31,
2018, based on the framework set forth in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Based on its evaluation under this framework, the Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that our internal
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2018.
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Thayer ONeal’s attestation report on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal
control over financial reporting is included in the financial statements which
appear in this annual report.

(c) Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm. Thayer ONeal’s
attestation report on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over
financial reporting is included in Item 8. Financial Information.

(d) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have made significant improvements in Internal Controls over Financial
Reporting during year 2017.

Management believes that proper segregation of duties is critical to a properly
designed and operating internal control environment for financial reporting. The
Corporation developed a remediation plan, with oversight from the Audit
Committee, to remediate the following material weaknesses in internal controls
over financial reporting, first identified in 2015:

The Corporation did not employ a sufficient complement of finance and
accounting personnel to ensure that there was proper segregation of duties related
to certain processes, primarily impacting the expenditures/disbursements processes
and information technology general controls (“ITGC”) and sufficient compensating
controls did not exist in these areas.

The Corporation’s remediation plan included hiring an external accounting expert,
functioning in a Controller role, at the beginning of 2017 to assist in the accounting
of non-routine complex accounting matters and to enhance oversight of the
financial reporting process. The accounting system was transferred to a new
general ledger software system on a secure cloud platform. Additionally, we
contracted with a Managed Service Provider to maintain our IT infrastructure.
These changes allowed for proper segregation of duties and strengthened the
controls related to the expenditures/disbursements approval process, financial
statement review and information technology general controls (“ITGC”). This
remediation plan was implemented and functioning as of September 30, 2017.
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Internal control over financial reporting has inherent limitations. Internal control
over financial reporting is a process that involves human diligence and compliance
and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures.
Internal control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or
improper management override. Because of such limitations, there is a risk that
material misstatements may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by
internal control over financial reporting. However, these inherent limitations are
known features of the financial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible to design
into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk. See “Risk
Factors”.

Item 16. RESERVED

Item 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our board of directors has determined that Richard Cutler, Esq., the Chairman of
our Audit Committee, is an audit committee financial expert and is an independent
director under the applicable listing rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market.

Item 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a code of ethics that is applicable to our officers, directors and
employees in general and our principal executive officer, principal financial
officer, principal accounting officer or controller and persons performing similar
functions in particular. The code of ethics can be found on our website,
www.nymox.com.

Item 16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Our principal independent auditor is Thayer O’Neal, CPA.
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Fees and Services

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, Thayer O’Neal Company,
LLC, for professional services, the following fees:

Description

US

2018

US

2017

US

2016

Audit fees $ 168,170 $ 180,000 $ 135,248
Audit related fees - - -
Tax fees 6,250 6,250 18,000
All other fees - - -
Total $ 174,420 $ 186,250 $ 153,248

Audit Fees consisted of professional services rendered for the annual audit of the
Corporation’s consolidated financial statements, the quarterly reviews of the
Corporation’s interim financial statements, consultation concerning financial
reporting and accounting standards, and services provided in connection with
statutory and regulatory filings or engagements. The fees in 2018 also include fees
for the audit of the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over financial
reporting which was required as the Company became an accelerated filer under
SEC regulations for 2018 with more than $75 million in public float.

Audit-Related Fees consisted of translation services rendered in connection with
the Corporation’s financial documents.

Tax Fees consisted of services rendered in connection with the preparation of tax
returns of the Corporation and its subsidiaries and general tax advice.

72

Edgar Filing: BIGLARI HOLDINGS INC. - Form 10-Q

106



All Other Fees – there were no other professional services rendered during the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Policy on Pre-Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services of Independent
Auditors

Our Audit Committee is responsible for the oversight of our independent auditor’s
work. Our Audit Committee’s policy is to pre-approve all audit and non-audit
services provided by ThayerONeal. These services may include audit services,
audit-related services, tax services and other services. The Audit Committee
appoints the auditors and oversees and fixes the compensation for all such services.
ThayerONeal and our management report to the Audit Committee regarding the
extent of services actually provided in accordance with the applicable
pre-approval, and regarding the fees for the services performed. The Audit
Committee approved 100% of the fees listed on the table above.

ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR
AUDIT COMMITTEES

Not applicable.

ITEM 16E. PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER
AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

None.

ITEM 16F. CHANGES IN REGISTRANT’S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT

On July 15, 2015, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Nymox Pharmaceutical
Corporation (the “Company”) approved the dismissal of KPMG LLP (“KPMG”) as the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm.
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The audit reports of KPMG on the Company’s financial statements as of and for the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 did not contain any adverse opinion or
disclaimer of opinion nor were they qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit
scope or accounting principle, except as follows:

KPMG’s report on the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and
for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 contained an explanatory
paragraph that states that the failure of two Phase 3 studies of NX-1207 materially
affects Nymox Pharmaceutical Corporation’s current ability to fund its operations,
meet its cash flow requirements, realize its assets and discharge its obligations, and
casts substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. The
consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result
from the outcome of that uncertainty.

The audit reports of KPMG on the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2013 did not contain any adverse opinion or
disclaimer of opinion nor was it qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope
or accounting principle. The audit reports of KPMG on the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 reflected the following
material weakness:

KPMG’s report indicates that the Company did not maintain effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 because of the effect of a
material weakness on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria and
contains an explanatory paragraph that states that the Company did not employ a
sufficient complement of finance and accounting personnel to ensure that there was
a proper segregation of incompatible duties relating to certain processes, primarily
impacting the expenditures/disbursements processes and information technology
controls, and sufficient compensating controls did not exist in these areas.
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During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 and through the subsequent
interim period to July 15, 2015, the date of KPMG’s dismissal, there were no: (i)
disagreements with KPMG on any matter of accounting principles or practices,
f inancial  statement disclosure or audit ing scope or procedure,  which
disagreements, if not resolved to the their satisfaction, would have caused them to
make reference in connection with their opinion to the subject matter of the
disagreements, or (2) reportable events, except that KPMG advised the Company
of the following material weakness: the Company did not employ a sufficient
complement of finance and accounting personnel to ensure that there was a proper
segregation of incompatible duties relating to certain processes, primarily
impacting the expenditures/disbursements processes and information technology
controls, and sufficient compensating controls did not exist in these areas.

On July 15, 2015, the Board approved the engagement of Cutler & Co., LLC
(“Cutler”) to serve as the Company’s new independent registered public accounting
firm. Prior to the date of Cutler’s engagement, the Company has not consulted with
Cutler regarding (i) the application of accounting principles to a specific completed
or contemplated transaction, (ii) the type of audit opinion that might be rendered
on the Company’s financial statements and neither a written report was provided to
the registrant nor oral advice was provided that the new accountant concluded was
an important factor considered by the registrant

in reaching a decision as to the accounting, auditing or financial reporting issue; or
(iii) any matter that was either the subject of a disagreement.

On December 15, 2015, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Nymox
Pharmaceutical Corporation (the “Company”) was notified by Cutler & Co., LLC
(“Cutler”) that Cutler had filed for deregistering with the PCAOB and was
transferring its foreign issuers to Thayer O’Neal Company, LLC (“ThayerONeal”).
Accordingly Cutler resigned as the Registrant’s independent registered public
accounting firm.

The review of Cutler & Co on the Company’s financial statements as of and for the
quarter ended June 30, 2015 resulted in no: (i) disagreements with Cutler & Co on
any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or
auditing scope or procedure, which disagreements, if not resolved to the their
satisfaction, would have caused them to make reference in connection with their
opinion to the subject matter of the disagreements, or (2) reportable events, except
that Cutler & Co advised the Company of the following material weakness: the
Company did not employ a sufficient complement of finance and accounting
personnel to ensure that there was a proper segregation of incompatible duties
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relating to certain processes, primarily impacting the expenditures/disbursements
processes and information technology controls, and sufficient compensating
controls did not exist in these areas.

On December 16, 2015, the Board approved the engagement of ThayerONeal to
serve as the Company’s new independent registered public accounting firm. Prior to
the date of ThayerONeal’s engagement, the Company has not consulted with
ThayerONeal regarding (i) the application of accounting principles to a specific
completed or contemplated transaction, other than that noted below, (ii) the type of
audit opinion that might be rendered on the Company’s financial statements and
neither a written report was provided to the registrant nor oral advice was provided
that the new accounting firm concluded was an important factor considered by the
registrant in reaching a decision as to the accounting, auditing or financial
reporting; or (iii) any matter that was either the subject of a disagreement.

With respect to item (i) in the preceding paragraph the Company engaged a
specialist to value share based compensation expense related to the issuance of
options and the modification of those options associated with an employment
agreement with an officer of the Company at the request of KPMG, the
independent registered accounting firm which preceded the appointment of Cutler
& Co. In connection with that engagement, ThayerONeal has reviewed and tested
the accounting model created by the specialist for future reliance thereon and has
provided comments to management concerning that model.
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ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Corporation is listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market. The Corporation complies
with all the Nasdaq Stock Market corporate governance requirements.

On December 16, 2014, the Corporation was notified by the Nasdaq Listing
Qualifications department that the Corporation’s Nasdaq Capital Market
requirements were currently deficient for the preceding 30 consecutive business
days. However, the Listing Rules provide the Corporation a compliance period of
180 calendar days in which to regain compliance. In order to do so, the
Corporation must maintain a minimum market value of $35 million for a minimum
of ten consecutive business days and the closing bid price of the Corporation’s
common share must be at least $1 for a minimum of ten consecutive business days.
Failure to meet the listing requirements may lead to delisting from the Nasdaq
Capital Market in which case the Corporation will consider an alternate trading
platform for its common shares. In May, 2015, the Corporation received
notification from the Nasdaq Listing Qualifications department that it had regained
compliance with the listing rules.

ITEM 16H. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Not applicable.

ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements for the three years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016 are included in Item 8 of this report and are incorporated by reference in this
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item.
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ITEM 19. EXHIBITS

The following exhibits are included with or incorporated by reference into this
report:

Exhibit
No. Description
1(a) Articles of Incorporation, as amended. (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.1 to the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the Commission
December 9, 1996)

1(b) Bylaws of the Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the Commission December 9,
1996)

4(a) Memorandum of Agreement  between Paul  Averback and the
Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the Commission December 9, 1996)

4(b) Share Option Plan of the Corporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the Commission
December 9, 1996)

4(c) Research and License Agreement between the Massachusetts General
Hospital Corporation and the Corporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the Commission
December 9, 1996)

4(d) Research and License Amendment between the Massachusetts General
Hospital Corporation and the Corporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the Commission
February 21, 1997)

4(e) Common Stock Purchase Agreement between Nymox Pharmaceutical
Corporation and Jaspas Investments Limited dated November 1, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.0 to the Corporation’s Form F-1
Registration Statement filed with the Commission February 29, 2000)

4(f) Registration Rights Agreement between Nymox Pharmaceutical
Corporation and Jaspas Investments Limited dated November 1, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Corporation’s Form F-1
Registration Statement filed with the Commission February 29, 2000)

4(g) Escrow Agreement among Nymox Pharmaceutical Corporation, Jaspas
Investments Limited and Epstein, Becker & Green, P.C. dated November
1, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Corporation’s
Form F-1 Registration Statement filed with the Commission February
29, 2000)

4(h) Stock Purchase Warrant to purchase common shares issued to Jaspas
Investments Limited dated November 1, 1999 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 2.3 to the Corporation’s Form F-1 Registration Statement filed
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with the Commission February 29, 2000)
4(i) Research and License Agreement between the Rhode Island Hospital

Corporation and the Corporation dated May 14, 1999 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the
Commission May 15, 2000).

4(j) Research and License Amendment between the Rhode Island Hospital
Corporation and the Corporation dated November 19, 2001 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with
the Commission June 28, 2002).

4(s) Common Stock Private Purchase Agreement between Nymox
Pharmaceutical Corporation and Lorros-Greyse Investments, Ltd. dated
November 1, 2010. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(s) to the
Corporation’s Amendment No.1 to 20-F Report fi led with the
Commission on June 3, 2011).

4(t)* License and Collaboration Agreement between Nymox Pharmaceutical
Corporation and Recordati Ireland Ltd. dated December 16, 2010.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(t) to the Corporation’s
Amendment No.1 to 20-F Report filed with the Commission on June 3,
2011)

4(u) Common Stock Private Purchase Agreement between Nymox
Pharmaceutical Corporation and Lorros-Greyse Investments, Ltd. dated
November 1, 2011. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(u) to the
Corporation’s 6-K Report filed with the Commission on March 15, 2012).

4(v) Common Stock Private Purchase Agreement between Nymox
Pharmaceutical Corporation and Lorros-Greyse Investments, Ltd. dated
November 1, 2012. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(v) to the
Corporation’s 6-K Report filed with the Commission on March 15, 2013).

4(w) Common Stock Private Purchase Agreement between Nymox
Pharmaceutical Corporation and Lorros-Greyse Investments, Ltd. dated
November 1, 2013.

4(x) 6% Secured Convertible Note between Nymox Pharmaceutical
Corporation and Cantone Asset Management, LLC dated December 16,
2014. (filed herewith).

4(y) Response Letter from KPMG in the Corporation’s 6-K dated July 16,
2015 (Incorporated by reference herewith)

8 List of Subsidiaries of Nymox Pharmaceutical Corporation (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 8 to the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the
Commission June 30, 2004)

11 Code of Business Conduct for the Officers, Directors and Employees of
Nymox Pharmaceutical Corporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 11 to the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the Commission
June 30, 2004)

12(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)
or 15d-14(a)

12(b) Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or
15d-14(a)

13(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, As
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

13(b) Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, As
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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________

* Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment
request. Omitted portions have been filed separately with the SEC.
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SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on
Form 20-F and that it has duly caused and authorized the undersigned to sign this
annual report on its behalf.

NYMOX PHARMACEUTICAL
CORPORATION
(Registrant)

/s/ Paul Averback
Paul Averback,
Title: President and Chief
Executive Officer

Date: March 29, 2019
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EXHIBIT INDEX - NYMOX PHARMACEUTICAL CORPORATION Form
20-F Annual Report

Exhibit
No. Description
1(a) Articles of Incorporation, as amended. (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.1 to the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the Commission
December 9, 1996)

1(b) Bylaws of the Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the Commission December 9,
1996)

4(a) Memorandum of Agreement  between Paul  Averback and the
Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the Commission December 9, 1996)

4(b) Share Option Plan of the Corporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the Commission
December 9, 1996)

4(c) Research and License Agreement between the Massachusetts General
Hospital Corporation and the Corporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the Commission
December 9, 1996)

4(d) Research and License Amendment between the Massachusetts General
Hospital Corporation and the Corporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the Commission
February 21, 1997)

4(e) Common Stock Purchase Agreement between Nymox Pharmaceutical
Corporation and Jaspas Investments Limited dated November 1, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.0 to the Corporation’s Form F-1
Registration Statement filed with the Commission February 29, 2000)

4(f) Registration Rights Agreement between Nymox Pharmaceutical
Corporation and Jaspas Investments Limited dated November 1, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Corporation’s Form F-1
Registration Statement filed with the Commission February 29, 2000)

4(g) Escrow Agreement among Nymox Pharmaceutical Corporation, Jaspas
Investments Limited and Epstein, Becker & Green, P.C. dated November
1, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Corporation’s
Form F-1 Registration Statement filed with the Commission February
29, 2000)

4(h) Stock Purchase Warrant to purchase common shares issued to Jaspas
Investments Limited dated November 1, 1999 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 2.3 to the Corporation’s Form F-1 Registration Statement filed
with the Commission February 29, 2000)

4(i) Research and License Agreement between the Rhode Island Hospital
Corporation and the Corporation dated May 14, 1999 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the
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Commission May 15, 2000).
4(j) Research and License Amendment between the Rhode Island Hospital

Corporation and the Corporation dated November 19, 2001 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with
the Commission June 28, 2002).

4(s) Common Stock Private Purchase Agreement between Nymox
Pharmaceutical Corporation and Lorros-Greyse Investments, Ltd. dated
November 1, 2010. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(s) to the
Corporation’s Amendment No.1 to 20-F Report fi led with the
Commission on June 3, 2011).

4(t)* License and Collaboration Agreement between Nymox Pharmaceutical
Corporation and Recordati Ireland Ltd. dated December 16, 2010.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(t) to the Corporation’s
Amendment No.1 to 20-F Report filed with the Commission on June 3,
2011)

4(u) Common Stock Private Purchase Agreement between Nymox
Pharmaceutical Corporation and Lorros-Greyse Investments, Ltd. dated
November 1, 2011. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(u) to the
Corporation’s 6-K Report filed with the Commission on March 15, 2012).

4(v) Common Stock Private Purchase Agreement between Nymox
Pharmaceutical Corporation and Lorros-Greyse Investments, Ltd. dated
November 1, 2012. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(v) to the
Corporation’s 6-K Report filed with the Commission on March 15, 2013).

4(w) Common Stock Private Purchase Agreement between Nymox
Pharmaceutical Corporation and Lorros-Greyse Investments, Ltd. dated
November 1, 2013.

4(x) 6% Secured Convertible Note between Nymox Pharmaceutical
Corporation and Cantone Asset Management, LLC dated December 16,
2014. (filed herewith).

4(y) Response Letter from KPMG in the Corporation’s 6-K dated July 16,
2015 (Incorporated by reference herewith)

8 List of Subsidiaries of Nymox Pharmaceutical Corporation (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 8 to the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the
Commission June 30, 2004)

11 Code of Business Conduct for the Officers, Directors and Employees of
Nymox Pharmaceutical Corporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 11 to the Corporation’s Form 20-F filed with the Commission
June 30, 2004)

12(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)
or 15d-14(a)

12(b) Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or
15d-14(a)

13(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, As
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

13(b) Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, As
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

__________

* Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment
request. Omitted portions have been filed separately with the SEC.
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